
Snapper
Acceptance on Wellington’s buses, ferries and taxis is 
being replicated in Auckland. By the end of FY12 it is 
possible that half of all public transport rides in  
New Zealand will be paid for using Snapper.

Ultimately the goal remains for Snapper to be a popular 
payment tool for a wide range of low-value transactions 
and “smart-card” applications such as library cards, 
venue access, discount schemes and so on.

Illustrative of the wider capability was the range of 
services Snapper provided to the Asia-Pacific Out 
Games held in Wellington. 2,000 participants were 
issued with a co-branded Snapper Outgames ID card 
that contained credentials, enabled them to get around 
by taxi and public transport, and could be loaded with 
event tickets purchased over the net.

The next step is to have Wellington City’s car park 
meters accept Snapper.

Snapper

Snapper progressed towards the goal of being  
New Zealand’s leading provider of public transport payment services.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

Notes

Consolidated Parent

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Operating revenue 2,027.9 1,829.1 19.6 17.7 
Dividends 0.3 6.8 32.6 36.0 
Total revenue 2,028.2 1,835.9 52.2 53.7 
Share of earnings and income of associate companies (net of tax) 13 115.8 - - -
Total income 5 2,144.0 1,835.9 52.2 53.7 

Depreciation 94.2 90.0 - -
Amortisation of intangibles 24.2 24.0 - -
Employee benefits 213.0 197.6 - -
Other operating expenses 6 1,410.7 1,275.0 19.8 17.8 
Total operating expenditure 1,742.1 1,586.6 19.8 17.8 

Operating surplus before financing, investment costs, derivatives, 
realisations and impairments 401.9 249.3 32.4 35.9 

Net (loss)/gain on energy, foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives (3.9) (67.5) (4.8) 1.0 
Net investment realisations and (impairments) 5 (34.9) 83.8 0.4 (2.4)

Results from operating activities 363.1 265.6 28.0 34.5 

Interest income 4.9 7.9 122.1 109.5 
Interest expense 173.0 167.2 60.3 61.2 
Net financing expense / (income) 168.1 159.3 (61.8) (48.3)

Net surplus before taxation 195.0 106.3 89.8 82.8 
Tax expense associated with change in corporate income tax rate 16 (9.6) - - -
Taxation expense associated with removal of tax depreciation on buildings 16 35.4 - - -
Taxation expense - other 16 49.6 11.3 - -
Net surplus for the year 119.6 95.0 89.8 82.8 

Net surplus attributable to owners of the company 64.5 29.0 89.8 82.8 
Net surplus attributable to non-controlling interest 55.1 66.0 - -

Other comprehensive income, after tax
Differences arising on translation of foreign operations 20.3 (31.1) - -
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (22.5) 20.1 - -
Fair value movements in relation to executive share scheme 0.1 - 0.1 -
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss - 6.2 - -
Net change in fair value of property, plant & equipment recognised in equity 66.3 19.9 - -
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets - 79.4 - -
Movement of available-for-sale financial assets transferred to profit and loss - (79.4) - -
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 64.2 15.1 0.1 -

Total comprehensive income for the year 183.8 110.1 89.9 82.8 

Total comprehensive income for the year - owners of the Company 118.2 29.2 89.9 82.8 
Total comprehensive income for the year - non controlling interest 65.6 80.9 

Earnings per share 
Basic (cents per share) 10.8 5.2 
Diluted (cents per share) 10.7 5.2 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, fair value movements of 
financial instruments, investment costs, realisations and impairments (EBITDAF) 520.3 363.3 32.4 35.9 

EBITDAF before fair value gains on acquisition recognised by associates 459.6 363.3 32.4 35.9

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2011

Notes

Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Cash and cash equivalents 11 157.5 180.9 - -
Trade, accounts receivable and prepayments 19 356.8 325.8 4.1 2.5 
Derivative financial instruments 19 4.6 5.5 - -
Inventories 10 19.9 15.3 - -
Income tax receivable 3.9 - - -
Current assets 542.7 527.5 4.1 2.5 

Property, plant and equipment 17 3,777.4 3,556.1 - -
Investment properties 18 73.1 75.9 - -
Derivative financial instruments 19 7.3 22.5 - -
Intangible assets 14 66.9 67.1 - -
Goodwill 14 242.0 242.0 - -
Investments in associates 13 314.0 2.2 - -
Other investments 13 9.7 7.5 - -
Investment in subsidiaries 23 - - 99.7 99.7 
Advances to subsidiaries - - 1,427.9 1,224.6 
Non current assets 4,490.4 3,973.3 1,527.6 1,324.3 
Total assets 5,033.1 4,500.8 1,531.7 1,326.8 

Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities 284.8 273.5 10.2 11.3 
Vendor financing - non-interest bearing - current 9 14.9 - - -
Derivative financial instruments 19 70.8 60.9 1.2 0.6 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings - current 8 38.3 302.0 - -
Income tax payable 6.9 10.5 - -
Infrastructure bonds 20 99.3 0.7 99.3 0.7 
Total current liabilities 515.0 647.6 110.7 12.6 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings - non-current 8 718.5 329.2 - -
Vendor financing - non-interest bearing - non current 9 33.8 - - -
Other liabilities 11.6 13.7 - -
Deferred tax 16 377.7 339.5 - -
Derivative financial instruments 19 56.5 49.6 8.4 4.2 
Infrastructure bonds 20 520.6 507.8 520.6 507.8 
Perpetual Infratil infrastructure bonds 20 234.9 235.5 234.9 235.5 
Wellington International Airport bonds 21 248.3 247.9 - -
TrustPower bonds 21 473.3 398.7 - -
Non current liabilities 2,675.2 2,121.9 763.9 747.5 

Attributable to owners of the Company 999.4 880.7 657.1 566.7 
Non controlling interest in subsidiaries 843.5 850.6 - -
Total equity 1,842.9 1,731.3 657.1 566.7 

Total equity and liabilities 5,033.1 4,500.8 1,531.7 1,326.8 

Net tangible assets per share ($ per share)  $1.15  $1.01 

Approved on behalf of the Board on 16 May 2011

Director 	 Director 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

Notes

Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash was provided from:
Receipts from customers 2,010.4 1,751.6 1.6 -
Distributions received from associates 13.8 - - -
Dividends 0.4 2.4 32.6 -
Interest received 4.9 7.9 - -

2,029.5 1,761.9 34.2 -
Cash was disbursed to:
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,641.1) (1,419.1) (20.3) (21.0)
Interest paid (165.7) (167.1) (60.3) (61.4)
Taxation paid (44.2) (43.9) - (1.0)

(1,851.0) (1,630.1) (80.6) (83.4)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 26 178.5 131.8 (46.4) (83.4)

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash was provided from:
Proceeds from sale of investments - 328.4 - -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1.2 63.4 - -
Return of security deposits 0.6 - - -
Advanced from subsidiaries - - (61.6) 20.0 

1.8 391.8 (61.6) 20.0 
Cash was disbursed to:
Purchase of investments (211.8) - - -
Lodgement of security deposits (3.3) (0.5) - -
Purchase of intangible assets (6.6) (13.0) - -
Interest capitalised on construction of fixed assets (5.0) (1.9) - -
Capitalisation of customer acquisition costs (16.2) (10.6) - -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (180.0) (206.1) - -

(422.9) (232.1) - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities (421.1) 159.7 (61.6) 20.0 

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash was provided from:
Proceeds from issue of shares 47.2 98.2 42.6 98.2 
Proceeds from issue of shares to non-controlling shareholders 1.0 5.2 - -
Bank borrowings 433.8 251.0 - -
Issue of bonds 186.5 137.7 111.5 -

668.5 492.1 154.1 98.2 
Cash was disbursed to:
Repayment of bank debt (321.0) (738.1) - -
Loan establishment costs (7.9) (4.9) - -
Repayment of bonds/PIIB buyback (1.3) (0.4) (1.6) (0.4)
Infrastructure bond issue expenses (3.8) - (2.3) -
Share buyback (9.2) - (9.2) -
Share buyback of non-wholly owned subsidiary (6.0) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders in subsidiary companies (67.7) (78.8) - -
Dividends paid to owners of the Company (37.6) (36.2) (33.0) (36.2)

(454.5) (858.4) (46.1) (36.6)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities 214.0 (366.3) 108.0 61.6 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash (28.6) (74.8) - (1.8)
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash 5.2 4.6 - -
Cash balances at beginning of year 180.9 251.1 - 1.8 
Cash at end of year 157.5 180.9 - -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Consolidated
Capital

$Millions

Revaluation 
reserve

$Millions

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

$Millions

Fair value 
reserve

$Millions

Hedge/other 
reserve

$Millions

Retained 
earnings

$Millions
Total

$Millions

Non-
controlling

$Millions

Total  
equity

$Millions

Balance as at 1 April 2010 419.7 385.2 (44.1) - 9.5 110.4  880.7  850.6  1,731.3 

Total comprehensive income  
for the year
Net surplus for the year - - - - - 64.5  64.5  55.1  119.6 

Other comprehensive income, after tax
Transfer between reserves - - 7.5 - (7.5) - -  -   -
Differences arising on translation of 
foreign operations - - 10.5 - - -  10.5  9.8 20.3 
Fair value movements in relation to 
executive share scheme - - - - 0.1 -  0.1  -   0.1 
Effective portion of changes in fair 
value of cash flow hedges - - - - (4.9) - (4.9) (17.6) (22.5)
Net change in fair value of cash flow 
hedges transferred to profit or loss - - - - - -  -    -   -
Net change in fair value of property, 
plant & equipment recognised in equity - 48.0 - - - - 48.0 18.3 66.3 
Net change in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets - - - - - -  -    -   -
Movement of available-for-sale 
financial assets transferred to profit 
or loss - - - - - -  -    -    -   
Total other comprehensive income - 48.0 18.0 - (12.3) - 53.7 10.5 64.2 
Total comprehensive income  
for the year - 48.0 18.0 - (12.3) 64.5 118.2 65.6 183.8 

Contributions by and distributions to 
non-controlling interest
Outside equity interest arising on 
establishment of subsidiary - - - - - - - 1.0 1.0 
Repurchase of shares held by outside 
equity interest - - - - - - - (6.2) (6.2)
Total contributions by and distributions 
to non-controlling interest - - - - - - - (5.2) (5.2)
Contributions by and distributions  
to owners
Partly paid shares fully paid (IFTWBs) 42.7 - - - - - 42.7 - 42.7 
Shares issued from underwrite of 
IFTWB exercise - - - - - - - - -
Rights issue proceeds from partly paid 
shares - - - - - - - - -
Less share buyback (9.2) - - - - - (9.2) - (9.2)
Treasury Stock reissued under Dividend 
reinvestment plan 4.6 - - - - - 4.6 - 4.6 
Dividends to equity holders - - - - - (37.6) (37.6) (67.5) (105.1)
Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners 38.1 - - - - (37.6) 0.5 (67.5) (67.0)
Balance at 31 March 2011  457.8  433.2 (26.1) - (2.8) 137.3  999.4  843.5  1,842.9

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Consolidated
Capital

$Millions

Revaluation 
reserve

$Millions

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

$Millions

Fair value 
reserve

$Millions

Hedge/other 
reserve

$Millions

Retained 
earnings

$Millions
Total

$Millions

Non-
controlling

$Millions

Total  
equity

$Millions

Balance as at 1 April 2009 323.0 367.9 (8.8) - (4.5) 113.4  791.0  843.4  1,634.4 

Total comprehensive income  
for the year
Net surplus for the year - - - - - 29.0 29.0 66.0 95.0 

Other comprehensive income, after tax
Differences arising on translation of 
foreign operations - - (35.3) - - 4.2 (31.1) - (31.1)
Effective portion of changes in fair 
value of cash flow hedges - - - - 7.8 - 7.8 12.3 20.1 
Net change in fair value of cash flow 
hedges transferred to profit or loss - - - - 6.2 - 6.2 - 6.2 
Net change in fair value of property, 
plant & equipment recognised in equity - 17.3 - - - - 17.3 2.6 19.9 
Net change in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets - - - 79.4 - - 79.4 - 79.4 
Movement of available-for-sale 
financial assets transferred to profit 
or loss - - - (79.4) - - (79.4) - (79.4)
Total other comprehensive income - 17.3 (35.3) - 14.0 4.2 0.2 14.9 15.1 
Total comprehensive income  
for the year - 17.3 (35.3) - 14.0 33.2 29.2 80.9 110.1 

Contributions by non-controlling 
interest
Outside equity interest arising on 
establishment of subsidiary - - - - - - - 5.1 5.1 
Total contributions by non-controlling 
interest - - - - - - - 5.1 5.1 

Contributions by and distributions to 
owners
Warrants exercised and partly paid 86.6 - - - - - 86.6 - 86.6 
Shares issued from underwrite of 
IFTWB exercise 11.6 - - - - - 11.6 - 11.6 
Rights issue proceeds from partly paid 
shares - - - - - - - - -
Less share buyback (1.5) - - - - - (1.5) - (1.5)
Dividends to equity holders - - - - - (36.2) (36.2) (78.8) (115.0)
Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners  96.7 - - - - (36.2)  60.5 (78.8) (18.3)
Balance at 31 March 2010  419.7  385.2 (44.1) - 9.5 110.4  880.7  850.6  1,731.3

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Parent
Capital

$Millions

Revaluation 
reserve

$Millions

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

$Millions

Fair value 
reserve

$Millions

Hedge/other 
reserve

$Millions

Retained 
earnings

$Millions
Total

$Millions

Non-
controlling

$Millions

Total  
equity

$Millions

Balance as at 1 April 2010 412.5 - - - 0.1 154.1 566.7 - 566.7 

Net surplus for the year - - - - - 89.8 89.8 - 89.8 

Other comprehensive income, after tax
Fair value movements in relation to 
executive share scheme - - - - 0.1 - 0.1 - 0.1 
Total comprehensive income  
for the year - - - - 0.1 89.8 89.9 - 89.9 

Contributions by and distributions  
to owners
Warrants exercised and partly paid 42.7 - - - - - 42.7 - 42.7 
Shares issued from underwrite of 
IFTWB exercise - - - - - - - - -
Rights issue proceeds from partly paid 
shares - - - - - - - - -
Less share buyback (9.2) - - - - - (9.2) - (9.2)
Treasury Stock reissued under Dividend 
reinvestment plan 4.6 - - - - - 4.6 - 4.6 
Dividends to equity holders - - - - - (37.6) (37.6) - (37.6)
Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners 38.1 - - - - (37.6) 0.5 - 0.5 
Balance at 31 March 2011  450.6  -    -    -    0.2  206.3  657.1 -  657.1 

Balance as at 1 April 2009 315.8 - - - 0.1 107.5 423.4 - 423.4 
Net surplus for the year - - - - - 82.8 82.8 - 82.8 

Total comprehensive income  
for the year - - - - - 82.8 82.8 - 82.8 

Contributions by and distributions  
to owners
Warrants exercised and partly paid 86.6 - - - - - 86.6 - 86.6 
Shares issued from underwrite of 
IFTWB exercise 11.6 - - - - - 11.6 - 11.6 
Rights issue proceeds from partly paid 
shares - - - - - - - - -
Less share buyback (1.5) - - - - - (1.5) - (1.5)
Dividends to equity holders - - - - - (36.2) (36.2) - (36.2)
Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners 96.7 - - - - (36.2) 60.5 - 60.5 
Balance at 31 March 2010  412.5  -    -    -    0.1  154.1  566.7 -  566.7

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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	 1)	 Accounting policies 
Infratil Limited (“the Company”) is a company domiciled in New Zealand 
and registered under the Companies Act 1993. The Company is listed on 
the NZX and ASX, and is an issuer in terms of the Financial Reporting 
Act 1993. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (‘NZ GAAP’) 
and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) 
and other applicable financial reporting standards as appropriate 
for profit-oriented entities. The consolidated financial statements 
comprise the Company, its subsidiaries and associates (“the Group”). 
The presentation currency used in the preparation of these financial 
statements is New Zealand dollars, which is also the Group’s functional 
currency presented in $millions unless otherwise stated. The principal 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 
Comparative figures have been restated where appropriate to ensure 
consistency with the current period.

The financial statements comprise statements of the following: 
comprehensive income; financial position; changes in equity; 
cash flows; significant accounting policies; and the notes to those 
statements are contained on pages 49 to 81 of this report. The 
financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical cost, 
except certain property, plant and equipment is valued in accordance 
with accounting policy (C), investment properties are valued in 
accordance with accounting policy (D), investments are valued in 
accordance with accounting policy (F), and financial derivatives are 
valued in accordance with accounting policy (L).

A)	 Basis of preparation 
Accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Future outcomes could differ 
from those estimates. The principal areas of judgement in preparing 
these financial statements are set out below.

Valuation of property, plant and equipment 

The basis of valuation for the Group’s property, plant and equipment is 
fair value by independent valuers, or cost. The basis of the valuations 
include assessment of the net present value of the future earnings of 
the assets, the depreciated replacement cost, and other market based 
information, in accordance with asset valuation standards. The major 
inputs and assumptions that are used in the valuations that require 
judgement include projections of future revenues, sales volumes, 
operational capital investment and expenditure profiles, capacity, life 
assumptions, terminal values for each asset, the application of discount 
rates and replacement values. The key inputs and assumptions are 
reassessed at each balance date between valuations to ensure there 
has been no significant change that may impact the valuation.

In respect to assets held at cost, judgements must be made about 
whether costs incurred relate to bringing an asset to its working 
condition for its intended use, and therefore are appropriate for 
capitalisation as part of the cost of the asset. The determination of the 
appropriate life for a particular asset requires management to make 
judgements about, among other factors, the expected future economic 
benefits of the asset and the likelihood of obsolescence. Assessing 
whether an asset is impaired involves estimating the future cash flows 
that the asset is expected to generate. This will, in turn, involve a 
number of assumptions, including rates of expected revenue growth or 
decline, expected future margins, terminal values and the selection of 
an appropriate discount rate for valuing future cash flows.

Valuation of investments 

Management performs an assessment of the carrying value of 
investments at least annually and considers objective evidence for 

impairment on each investment taking into account observable data on 
the investment, the fair value, the status or context of capital markets, 
its own view of investment value, and its long term intentions. Infratil 
notes the following matters which are specifically considered in terms 
of objective evidence of impairment of its investments, and of whether 
there is a significant or prolonged decline from cost, which should be 
recorded as an impairment, and taken to profit and loss: any known 
loss events that have occurred since the initial recognition date of the 
investments, including evidence of significant adverse technological, 
market, economic or legal change; its investment horizon and average 
holding periods for investments, specific initiatives which reflect the 
strategic or influential nature of its existing investment position and 
internal valuations; and the state of financial markets. The assessment 
also requires management to make judgements about the expected 
future performance and cash flows of the investee.

Accounting for income taxes 

Preparation of the financial statements requires management to make 
estimates of the amount of tax that will ultimately be payable, the 
availability of losses to be carried forward and the amount of foreign 
tax credits that it will receive. 

Goodwill 

The carrying value of goodwill is subject to an annual impairment 
test to ensure the carrying value does not exceed the recoverable 
amount at balance date. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to the individual cash-generating units to which 
it relates. Any impairment losses are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. In determining the recoverable amount of 
goodwill, valuation models to calculate the present value of expected 
future cash flows of the cash-generating units are used. The major 
inputs and assumptions that are used in the models that require 
management judgement include forecasts of sales volumes and 
revenues, future prices and costs, terminal values and discount rates.

Derivatives

Certain derivatives are classified as financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The key assumptions 
and risk factors for these derivatives relate to energy price hedges 
and their valuation. Energy price hedges are valued with reference 
to financial models of future energy prices or market values for the 
relevant derivative. Accounting judgements have been made in 
determining hedge designation for the different types of derivatives 
employed by the Group to hedge risk exposures. Other derivatives 
including interest rate instruments and foreign exchange contracts are 
based on market information and prices.

Revenue 

Management has exercised judgement in determining estimated 
sales for unbilled revenues at balance date. Specifically, this involves 
estimates of consumption or sales to customers, turnover for turnover 
based rents and customer/passenger volumes. 

Provision for doubtful debts 

Provisions are maintained for estimated losses incurred from 
customers, being unable to make required payments. These provisions 
take into account known commercial factors impacting specific 
customer accounts, as well as the overall profile of the debtor portfolio. 
In assessing the provision, factors such as past collection history, the 
age of receivable balances, the level of activity in customer accounts, 
as well as general macro-economic trends, are taken into account. 

B)	 Basis of preparing consolidated financial statements
Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the 
financial statements of all the entities that comprise the consolidated 
entity, being the company (the parent entity) and its subsidiaries as 
defined in NZ IAS-27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ 
and equity accounted associates. A list of subsidiaries and associates 
is shown in note 23. Consistent accounting policies are employed in 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011



Infratil Annual Report 2011  45 Infratil Annual Report 2011  45 

the preparation and presentation of the Group financial statements. 
On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a 
subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. 
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If, after 
remeasurement, the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired 
exceeds the costs of acquisition, the deficiency is credited to profit 
and loss in the period of acquisition. Intra-group balances and any 
unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in preparing the Group financial statements.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control, that 
is, the power to govern the financial and operating policies to derive 
benefits generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one 
half of the voting rights. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the Group financial statements using the purchase method 
of consolidation. 

Associates

Associates are entities in which the Group has significant influence, 
but not control, over the operating and financial policies. The Group 
financial statements include the Group’s share of the net surplus of 
associates on an equity accounted basis.

Acquisition during the year

Where an entity becomes part of the Group during the year, the results 
of the entity are included in the Group results from the date that 
control or significant influence commenced.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill arising on acquisition is allocated to cash-generating units 
and is not amortised, but tested for impairment annually and whenever 
there is an indication that the goodwill may be impaired. Any impairment 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not subsequently 
reversed. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 April 2006 (the entity’s date 
of transition to IFRS) goodwill is included on the basis of the amount 
recorded under New Zealand’s previous GAAP on transition.

C)	Pro perty, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (PPE) is recorded at cost less 
accumulated depreciation (or fair value on acquisition), or valuation 
with valuations undertaken on a systematic basis with no individual 
asset included at a valuation undertaken more than five years 
previously. PPE that is revalued, is revalued to its fair value determined 
by an independent valuation or by the Directors with reference to 
independent experts, in accordance with NZ IAS 16 Property, Plant and 
Equipment.

Where the assets are of a specialised nature and do not have 
observable market values in their existing use, depreciated 
replacement cost is used as the basis of the valuation. Depreciated 
replacement cost measures net current value as the most efficient, 
lowest cost which would replace existing assets and offer the same 
amount of utility in their present use. For non-specialised assets where 
there is no observable market an income based approach is used.

Land, buildings, leasehold improvements and civil works are generally 
measured at fair value. Fair value is determined on the basis of 
periodic independent valuations prepared by valuation experts. The 
fair values are recognised in the financial statements of the Group, and 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ensure that the 
carrying value is not materially different from their fair values. If any 
material changes in fair value are identified, valuations are performed 
on a more frequent basis.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of PPE is credited 
to the asset revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses 
a valuation decrease for the same asset previously recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to 
the profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. 

A decrease in carrying amount arising from the revaluation of PPE is 
charged as an expense in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds 
the balance, if any, held in the asset revaluation reserve relating 
to a previous revaluation of that asset. Depreciation on revalued 
PPE is charged to profit or loss. On subsequent sale or retirement 
of a revalued PPE, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in 
the asset revaluation reserve, net of any related deferred taxes, is 
transferred directly to retained earnings. 

Renewable and Non-renewable Generation assets are shown at fair 
value, based on periodic valuations by independent external valuers or 
by Directors with reference to independent experts, less subsequent 
depreciation. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the 
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying value of the asset, 
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 

At commencement of the lease term, finance leases are recognised in 
the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value 
of the leased assets or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. 
Subsequently they are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment. 

Cost of property, plant and equipment (including capital work in 
progress) includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the item including, the cost of all materials, direct 
labour, resource management consent costs, and an appropriate 
portion of variable and fixed overheads. Financing costs during the 
period of construction are capitalised at the interest rate on the 
financing most closely related to the financing of the asset, where 
these meet certain time and monetary materiality limits. Costs cease 
to be capitalised as soon as the asset is ready for productive use. In 
the event that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is 
deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the 
future to their present value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis and the major 
depreciation periods (in years) are:

Buildings and civil works	 5-80

Vehicles, plant and equipment	 3-20

Renewable generation	 12-200

Non-renewable generation assets	 30-75

Metering equipment	 20 

Land	 not depreciated

Capital work in progress	 not depreciated until asset in use

Individual assets’ remaining useful lives and residual values are 
assessed during the revaluation process where revalued, or at the 
reporting date and depreciation is calculated on a basis consistent 
with those parameters. 

D)	In vestment property
Investment property is property held to earn rental income. Investment 
property is measured at fair value with any change therein recognised 
in profit or loss. Property that is being constructed for future use 
as investment property is measured to fair value and classified as 
investment property. 

E) 	 Receivables
Receivables, classified as loans and receivables, are initially 
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, less any provision for impairment. A provision for impairment 
is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to collect the amount due. The recoverable amount of 
the Group’s receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated as 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed 
at initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with a 
short duration are not discounted.
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F) 	In vestments
Share investments held by the Group classified as available-for-sale 
are stated at fair value, with any resulting gain or loss recognised 
directly in equity, except for impairment losses. When these 
investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss. The fair 
value of shares are quoted bid price where there is a quoted market 
bid price, or cost if fair value cannot be reliably measured. Investments 
classified as available-for-sale are recognised/derecognised by the 
Group on the trade date. Equity instruments are deemed to be impaired 
when there is a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below 
the original purchase price or there is other objective evidence that 
the investment is impaired. Shares in and advances to subsidiaries 
or associates are recorded at cost less any impairment losses. 
Investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, are stated at fair value, with any resulting gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss.

G) 	 Other intangible assets
Leasehold intangible assets

Leasehold intangible assets acquired by the Group are stated at fair 
value, less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Fair 
value is calculated with reference to the future estimated present 
values of cash flows arising from those leases. Amortisation is charged 
to the profit or loss over the period relating to the remaining lease 
tenures in proportion to the expiry profile of the leases, of between 
1 and 20 years. Impairment testing is required when there is an 
indication of impairment.

Intangible customer base assets

Costs incurred in acquiring customers are recorded as a customer base 
intangible asset based on the directly attributable costs of obtaining 
the customer contract and are amortised on a straight line basis over 
the period of the expected benefit. This period has been assessed 
as between two years and 20 years depending on the nature of the 
customer and term of the contract. The carrying value of customer 
bases is reviewed for any indication of impairment on an annual basis 
and adjusted where it is considered necessary. 

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of 
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. 
These costs are amortised over three years on a straight line basis 
except for major pieces of billing system software which are amortised 
over no more than seven years on a straight line basis.

H) 	 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale 
are measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less 
costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified 
as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition 
is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the 
asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition and the sale of the asset (or disposal group) is expected to 
be completed within one year from the date of classification.

I) 	In ventory 
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The 
cost of inventories is based on the first-in-first-out principle. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less applicable variable selling expenses.

J) 	Leases
Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised at the lower of 
fair value or present value of the minimum lease payments, with the 
corresponding recognition of finance lease liabilities. Operating lease 
rentals are charged to the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the 

period of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the 
profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease expense and spread 
over the lease term.

K) 	 Taxation
Income tax comprises both current and deferred tax. Current tax is the 
expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Deferred tax is 
recognised in respect of the differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
carrying amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary 
differences are not provided for: goodwill, the initial recognition of 
assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, 
and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent 
that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner 
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised. Additional income taxes that arise from 
the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the 
liability to pay the related dividend. 

Deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the profit or 
loss, except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to 
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly 
in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a 
business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the 
determination of goodwill.

L)	 Derivative financial instruments
The Group is a party to derivative financial instruments as part of 
its day to day operating activities. When appropriate, it enters into 
agreements to manage its interest rate, foreign exchange, operating 
and investment risks.

In accordance with the Group’s risk management policies, the Group does 
not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 
However, certain derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting and are 
required to be accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. Derivative 
financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value at the date they 
are entered into. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial 
instruments are stated at fair value at each balance sheet date. The 
resulting gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss immediately unless 
the derivative is designated effective as a hedging instrument, in which 
event, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature 
of the hedging relationship. The Group identifies certain derivatives as 
hedges of highly probable forecast transactions to the extent the hedge 
meets the hedge designation tests. The fair value of derivative financial 
instruments is classified as a non-current asset or a non-current liability 
if the remaining maturity of the derivative instrument is more than 12 
months and as a current asset or current liability if the remaining maturity 
of the derivative is less than 12 months. Counterparties to derivative 
financial instruments are generally major financial institutions and energy 
companies. The Group has a formal credit approval process based on 
the expected credit worthiness of counterparties and does not generally 
request security to support derivative financial instruments entered into.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include 
derivatives, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges 
of net investments in equity. At the inception of the hedge relationship 
the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 
and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its 
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, 
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at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group 
documents whether the hedging instrument that is used in the hedging 
relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or 
cash flows of the hedged item.

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify 
as fair value hedges are recorded in the profit or loss, together with 
any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are 
attributable to the hedged risk. 

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that 
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and presented in equity. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss. Amounts presented in equity are recognised in profit or loss in the 
periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss. However, 
when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition 
of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses 
previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included 
in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging 
relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or 
exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative 
gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and is 
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised 
in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected 
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Net investment hedge

Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial 
liability designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign 
operation is recognised directly in equity, in the foreign currency 
translation reserve, to the extent that the hedge is effective. To the 
extent that the hedge is ineffective, such differences are recognised 
in profit or loss. When the hedged net investment is disposed of, 
the cumulative amount in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an 
adjustment to the profit or loss on disposal.

M) 	Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective 
functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or 
loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the 
functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for interest 
and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign 
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that 
are measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. 
Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in 
profit or loss, except for differences arising on the translation of the 
net investment in a foreign subsidiary.

Foreign subsidiaries 

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries including goodwill 
and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated 
to New Zealand dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. 
The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to 
New Zealand dollars at the average rate.

N) 	Goods  & Services Tax (“GST”) and Value Added Tax (“VAT”)
The financial statements have been prepared on a GST/VAT exclusive 
basis (as applicable) except billed receivables and payables which 
include GST/VAT (as applicable).

O) 	Im pairment of assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not 
generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs. Goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or 
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash generating unit) is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or 
loss, except for revalued property, plant and equipment assets (refer 
note C).

P) 	 Employee benefits
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of 
wages and salaries, incentive entitlements, annual leave, long service 
leave, and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be 
required and they are capable of being measured reliably. Provisions 
made in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within  
12 months, are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which are not 
expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

Infratil Share Schemes and share based payments

Infratil has established the Infratil Executive Redeemable Share 
Scheme and Staff Share Purchase Scheme (together ‘the schemes’) as 
defined in the individual Trust Deeds for each scheme. The Schemes 
are administered by a trustee, Infratil Trustee Company Limited (the 
Schemes exclude staff and directors of the manager H.R.L. Morrison & 
Co Limited and directors of Infratil).

Under the Infratil Executive Redeemable Share Scheme the fair value 
of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the 
shares are recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase 
in equity, over the vesting period during which employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the shares. The fair value is measured at 
grant date by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted, taking into account market performance conditions, measured 
using monte carlo simulation techniques. Non-market vesting 
conditions are included in the assumptions about the number of shares 
that are expected to become exercisable. At each balance sheet date, 
Infratil revises the amount to be recognised as an expense to reflect 
the expected entitlement from the executive share scheme. 

The Staff Share Purchase Scheme was designed to allow certain 
employees of the Group participating in the Scheme to purchase 
shares in Infratil Limited at a discount to market price and using 
interest free loans as required by section DC12 of the Income Tax 
Act 2007. Under the Staff Share Purchase Scheme, Infratil shares 
are acquired for participants and held by the Trustee on trust for the 
participating employees until the applicable restrictive period and 
conditions have been met. 
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Q) 	 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable for the sale of goods or services in the ordinary course of 
the Group’s activities. 

Interest revenues are recognised as accrued, taking into account 
the effective yield of the financial asset. Revenue from services is 
recognised in the profit or loss over the period of service. Dividend 
income is recognised when the right to receive the payment is 
established.

R) 	 Borrowings
Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at 
amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised 
amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit or loss 
over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate. 
Bond and bank debt issue expenses, fees and other costs incurred in 
arranging finance are capitalised and amortised over the term of the 
relevant debt instrument or debt facility. 

S) 	 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at banks and 
financial institutions and investments in money market instruments, 
excluding outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

T) 	 Financial instruments issued by the Group
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or 
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

U) 	Pro visions
A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when 
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation.

V) 	 Financial guarantees
Where the Company or a Group company enters into financial 
guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies 
within the Group, these are treated as insurance arrangements, and 
accounted for as such. In this respect, the guarantee is treated as a 
contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the 
Group entity will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

W) 	Emission rights
The Group receives tradable emission rights from specific energy 
production levels of certain renewable generation facilities. The 
future revenue arising from the sale of these emission rights may be 
a key matter in deciding whether to proceed with construction of the 
generation facility and is considered to be part of the value of the 
generation assets recorded in the Statement of Financial Position. 
Proceeds received on the sale of emission rights are recorded as 
deferred income in the Statement of Financial Position until the 
committed energy production levels pertaining to the emission rights 
sold has been generated.

Emission rights produced are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position if the right has been verified, it is probable that expected 
future economic benefits will flow to the Group, and the rights can be 
measured reliably. Emission rights are initially measured at cost. After 
initial recognition, the emission rights are carried at fair value with any 
changes taken to profit and loss. Fair value is determined by reference 
to an active market. If the emission rights cannot be revalued because 
there is no active market, the emission rights are carried at cost less 
any subsequent impairment losses.

X) 	 Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages 
in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions 
with any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ 
operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Board of 
Directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial 
information is available.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group is organised into six main business 
segments:

TrustPower, Wellington Airport, NZ Bus, Infratil Energy Australia, 
Infratil Airports Europe and Other. Other comprises investment activity 
not included in the other four categories.

Y) 	 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the operating surplus 
attributable to the shareholders by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares on issue during the period, on a basic and fully diluted 
basis.

Z) 	 Adoption status of relevant new financial reporting 
standards and interpretations

The following new standards and amendments to standards are 
mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 April 
2010, but are either not currently relevant or do not result in material 
accounting and/or disclosure changes for the Group:

•	 NZ IFRS 1 (amendments), Additional exemptions for first time 
adopters

•	 NZ IFRS 2 (amendment), Share based payment - group cash settled 
share based payment transactions

•	 NZ IFRS 3 (revised), Business combinations: scope exemption

•	 NZ IAS 7 (amendment), Statement of Cash Flows: Classification of 
expenditures on unrecognised assets

•	 NZ IAS 17 (amendment), Leases: Classification of leases of land 
and buildings

•	 IFRIC 18, Transfers of assets from customers

•	 IFRIC 19, Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments

•	 NZ IAS 36 (amendment), Impairment of Assets: Unit of accounting 
for goodwill impairment test

The following new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations have been issued, but are not effective for the financial 
year beginning 1 April 2010 and have not been early adopted:

•	 NZ IFRS 7 Disclosures - transfers of financial assets effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. This is not 
currently applicable to the Group.

•	 NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. This is not currently 
applicable to the Group.

•	 NZ IAS 12 (amendment), Income Tax - Deferred Tax: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2012. This is not currently applicable to the Group.

•	 NZ IAS 24 Related party disclosures (revised 2009) effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. This is not 
currently applicable to the Group.

•	 NZ IAS 26 Account and reporting by retirement benefit plans 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2011. This 
is not currently applicable to the Group.

•	 NZ IFRIC 14 Repayments of a minimum funding requirement 
(revised 2009) effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2011. This is not currently applicable to the Group.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011



Infratil Annual Report 2011  49 Infratil Annual Report 2011  49 

	 2)	 Discontinued operations
There were no discontinued operations in the current year, or in the prior year.

	 3)	 Nature of business
The Group owns infrastructure businesses and investments in the United Kingdom, Australia and New Zealand, and owns and operates predominantly 
infrastructure and utility businesses. The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The address of its 
registered office is 97 The Terrace, Wellington, New Zealand.

	 4) 	Business acquisitions/disposals
On 1 April 2010 Infratil Limited and the Guardians of New Zealand Superannuation each acquired a 50% interest in Shell New Zealand’s distribution 
and retail energy businesses, and a 17.1% interest in the New Zealand Refining Company through its investment vehicle Aotea Energy Holdings 
Limited. In addition to an extensive retail network and commercial customer base, the acquisition included NZ-wide distribution, storage, marine 
and aviation assets; the rights to use the Shell retail brand; a 25% share in Loyalty New Zealand (Fly Buys); and the ongoing supply of Shell fuels 
and products. These Group financial statements include equity accounting of Aotea Energy Holdings Limited and its principal operating subsidiary 
Greenstone Energy Limited.

For further information please refer to note 13.

Net assets acquired on 1 April 2010
Book value

$Millions

Fair value 
adjustments

$Millions
Fair value
$Millions

Cash & cash equivalents 126.7 - 126.7 
Trade & other receivables 159.8 - 159.8 
Inventories 342.4 10.0 352.4 
Current tax payable (9.7) - (9.7)
Investment in associates 77.0 119.3 196.3 
Property, plant and equipment 255.7 177.6 433.3 
Lease premiums 2.0 (2.0) -
Deferred tax assets 4.0 (21.8) (17.8)
Intangible assets 2.8 14.5 17.3 
Current trade & other payables (227.2) - (227.2)
Provisions- non current (13.1) - (13.1)
Retirement benefit obligation (5.9) - (5.9)
Total net identifiable assets acquired 714.5 297.6 1,012.1 
Cash consideration paid 890.7 
Debt facility (including working capital) 471.2 
Shareholder loans and equity 419.5 
Gain on acquisition 121.4 
Attributable to Infratil 60.7 

A fair value gain of $60.7 million is recognised in the share of earnings and income of Associate Companies within the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The gain relates to Infratil’s share of the excess fair value of net identifiable assets over the consideration paid. In determining the fair value of 
assets, independent valuations for property, plant and equipment were provided by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited.

In the prior year, the Group sold its interest in the Fullers Ferry business for $40.0 million and sold three commercial properties for a gross sale price of 
$23.1 million. The assets and liabilities relating to this transaction were part of the Other and New Zealand segments.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011



50

	 5) 	Revenue
Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Trading/operating revenue 2,027.7 1,828.9 - -
Dividends 0.3 6.8 32.6 36.0 
Grant income 0.2 0.2 - -
Share of earnings and income of associate companies (net of tax) 115.8 - - -
Inter-company charges - - 19.6 17.7 

2,144.0 1,835.9 52.2 53.7 

Investment realisations and revaluations 0.4 127.0 0.4 0.2 
Change in fair value of investment properties (2.4) (0.1) - -
Investment transaction costs expensed - (2.6) - (2.6)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (32.9) (34.4) - -
Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles - (6.1) - -

(34.9) 83.8 0.4 (2.4)

Investment realisations and revaluations

During the 2010 year the Group disposed of investments in Fullers Ferries, certain property assets, Lubeck Airport, Auckland International Airport and 
Energy Developments resulting in realisation gains of $127 million.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Airport assets are typically revalued at least every five years by independent valuers, with impairment considered at each balance date. The financial 
performance of Glasgow Prestwick and Manston Airport have deteriorated against expectations for the current year, with the Scottish economy 
remaining in recession and current year passenger and freight performance down significantly compared to the prior year. An updated independent 
valuation of Manston and Kent International airports as at 31 March 2011 has been obtained and as a result the value of the assets have been impaired 
by $31.7 million (2010: $34.4 million).

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles

The impairment of software intangible assets in 2010 relates to the partial abandonment of a project to replace billing software.

	 6) 	Other operating expenses
Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Fees paid to group auditors
Audit fees 0.8 0.7 0.1 0.1 
Other assurance services 0.1 - - -
Taxation and other services 0.3 0.5 - 0.1 

Audit fees paid to other auditors 0.3 0.3 - -
Bad debts written off 15.2 11.3 - -
Increase in provision for doubtful debts 3.3 13.0 - -
Directors’ fees 2.7 2.4 0.6 0.5 
Administration and other 4.9 4.2 4.9 4.1 
Management fee (to related party “MCIM”) 17.7 16.5 14.2 13.0 
Incentive fee (to related party “MCIM”) 5.9 - - -

Trading operations
Energy and wholesale costs 580.3 520.3 - -
Line, distribution and network costs 479.0 446.1 - -
Other energy business costs 170.2 120.5 - -
Other transportation business costs 70.3 77.8 - -
Other airport business costs 59.7 61.4 - -

Total other operating expenses 1,410.7 1,275.0 19.8 17.8 

Other assurance services include services for the audit or review of financial information other than financial statements.

Donations of $1.1 million (2010: nil) were paid during the year by the Group in relation to the Pike River and Christchurch earthquake disasters.
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	 7)	Go vernment grants
Capital based government grants of $4.3 million (2010: $4.5 million) are included within accounts payable, accrual and other liabilities in the Statement 
of Financial Position and credited to operating profit over the useful economic lives of the assets to which they relate. Other grants are credited to the 
profit and loss account when received.

	8)	Interest -bearing loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 19.

Consolidated Parent

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Current liabilities
Unsecured loans  36.6  223.6 - -
Secured bank facilities  1.7  78.4 - -
Less: Capitalised loan establishment costs  - - - -

 38.3  302.0 - -
Non-current liabilities
Unsecured loans  486.5  192.7 - -
Secured bank facilities  101.0  - - -
Redeemable preference shares - secured  140.0  140.0 - -
Less: Capitalised loan establishment costs (9.0) (3.5) - -

 718.5  329.2 - -
Facilities utilised at reporting date
Unsecured bank loans  523.1  416.3 - -
Unsecured guarantees  35.6  45.3 - -
Secured bank loans  102.7  78.4 - -
Secured guarantees  -  6.1 - -
Redeemable preference shares - secured  140.0  140.0 - -

Facilities not utilised at reporting date
Unsecured bank loans  776.9  882.4 - -
Secured bank loans  0.1  18.3 - -
Unsecured bank guarantees  5.8  2.5 - -

Financing arrangements

The Group’s debt includes bank facilities with negative pledge arrangements, which with limited exceptions do not permit the borrower to grant any 
security over its assets. The bank facilities require the borrower to maintain certain levels of shareholder funds and operate within defined performance 
and gearing ratios. The banking arrangements also include restrictions over the sale or disposal of certain assets without bank agreement. Throughout 
the year the Group has complied with all debt covenant requirements as imposed by lenders.

At year end the Group had unsecured bank debt and guarantee facilities of $1,341.4 million (2010: $1,344.3 million), redeemable preference shares 
(RPS) of $140 million (2010: $140 million) and secured bank and guarantee debt facilities of $102.9 million (2010: $102.8 million). 

The secured and unsecured debt facilities are able to be drawn-down as required subject to the borrower being in compliance with undertakings in 
respect of those facilities. Interest rates are determined by reference to prevailing money market rates at the time of draw-down plus a margin. Interest 
rates paid during the year ranged from 2.7% to 8.2% (2010: 2.7% to 5.7%). A non-wholly owned subsidiary has a loan from a minority shareholder of 
$3.1 million (2010: $nil), with an interest rate of 12%.

On 11 April 2011, Swift Transport Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Infratil Limited, entered into a United Kingdom, Export Credit Guarantee Department 
Term Loan Facility Agreement of $40.1 million in relation to the acquisition of buses. This facility expires on 31 May 2020. 

In April 2011, Wellington International Airport renewed its unsecured bank facilities, of which $8.2m is drawn and included in current liabilities for 
durations of up to 3 years and 5 years.

Secured bank facilities of a non-wholly owned subsidiary are non-recourse to the assets of Infratil and its other subsidiary and associate companies.

The Group has issued redeemable preference shares (RPS) which have a fixed interest rate of 7.93% (2010: 7.93%), and which mature in August 2013. 
The RPS are secured by a specific charge over 48.5 million TrustPower shares held by a subsidiary company and a general security charge over the other 
assets of that subsidiary company.

A subsidiary company has entered into a fully defeased cross border lease in relation to generation assets with a book value of $30.8 million  
(2010: $65.5 million). The lease liability is not recognised in these financial statements as all obligations have been prepaid to the respective lessors. 
This lease creates restrictions on the disposal of the asset unless the subsidiary company holding the assets is part of the disposal. The lease expires 
in January 2018 and is subject to a potential termination payment, up to a maximum value of $4.6 million (2010: $4.9 million), in the event that the 
subsidiary wishes to terminate the lease.
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	9)	Vendor  financing
Consolidated Parent

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Vendor financing - non-interest bearing - current  14.9  - - -
Vendor financing - non-interest bearing - non current  33.8  - - -
Total  48.7  - - -

Vendor financing is currently non interest bearing as at 31 March 2011, but expected to become interest bearing at 8.19% once certain pre-conditions 
are met (2010: n/a).

	10) 	Inventories
Consolidated Parent

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Raw materials and consumables  3.5  3.1 - -
Finished goods/trading products  16.4  12.2 - -
Total  19.9  15.3 - -

	11) 	Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated Parent

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Call deposits  98.8  100.5 -  - 
Cash deposits held as security for retail energy market contracts & bank 
financing agreements  58.7  80.4 - -
Total  157.5  180.9 -  - 

The Group conducts some of its electricity wholesale price hedging via the Sydney Futures Exchange and is required to maintain cash balances with 
its brokers, for Initial variation margins. These accounts represent the Group’s cash transactions with its brokers, and therefore the balance of these 
accounts is included in Cash and cash equivalents as call deposits. At 31 March 2011, $58.7 million (2010: $80.4 million) of this amount is “restricted” 
as it is not immediately available for use by the Group.

	12)	Infrat il shares and warrants
Ordinary shares (fully paid)

Consolidated & Parent

2011 2010

Total issued capital at the beginning of the year 567,655,106 520,211,418 

Movements in issued and fully paid ordinary shares during the year
Warrants exercised and fully/partly paid 38,049,825 40,531,919 
Shares issued from underwrite of IFTWB exercise - 7,811,769 
Share buyback held as treasury stock (5,550,000) (900,000)
Treasury stock reissued under Dividend Reinvestment Plan 2,651,461 - 
Total issued capital at the end of the year 602,806,392 567,655,106 

All fully paid ordinary shares have equal voting rights and share equally in dividends and equity. All authorised shares are issued and have no par value. 
There are no IFTWBs (2010: 38,086,925) and 52,825,458 IFTWCs (2010: 52,825,458) on issue. During the year 38,049,825 IFTWBs (2010: 40,531,529) 
were converted to ordinary shares. No IFTWCs were converted to ordinary shares during the year (2010: 390).

Each IFTWC held entitles the holder to acquire a further share in the Company at a price of $4.15 on, or before, 29 June 2012.
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Dividends paid on ordinary shares

Consolidated & Parent Consolidated & Parent

2011
cents per 

share

2010
cents per 

share

2011
 

$Millions

2010
 

$Millions

Final dividend prior year 3.75 3.75 22.6 21.3 
Interim dividend paid current year 2.5 2.5 15.0 14.9 

6.25 6.25 37.6 36.2 

Consolidated & Parent

Executive redeemable shares 2011 2010

Balance at the beginning of the year 632,500 293,500 
Shares Issued 535,000 339,000 
Balance at end of year 1,167,500 632,500 

Pursuant to Infratil Limited’s Executive Share Scheme, the Company issued on 6 December 2010 a further 535,000 (2010: 339,000) executive redeemable 
shares at an issue price per share of $1.8732 (2010: $1.6236), paid up to 1 cent per share. Redeemable shares may be issued annually to certain executives 
of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with the terms of the Infratil Executive Share Trust Deed (the Trust Deed), dated 22 August 2008. The 
Executive Redeemable Shares may be redeemed for ordinary shares on the payment of the unpaid issue price in accordance with the terms of issue under 
the Infratil Executive Share Scheme Trust Deed. The Executive Redeemable Shares have no entitlements to dividends or voting rights. During the year, certain 
executives left the Group, forfeiting their right to 216,000 shares (2010: 82,500) under the Scheme, which are held by the Trustee. 869,000 shares remain 
outstanding and available to Executives (2010: 550,000).

	13)	In vestments 
Consolidated Parent

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Non-current investments
Investment in associates 314.0 2.2 - - 
Investments in other companies (classified as available-for-sale) 9.7 7.5 - - 
Total non-current investments 323.7 9.7 - - 
Total investments 323.7 9.7 - - 

Available-for-sale Investments

Carrying value Change in value

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Auckland International Airport Limited - - - 6.2 
Energy Developments Limited - - - 94.6 
Other investments 9.7 7.5 - - 

9.7 7.5 - 100.8 
Gain/(impairment) to profit and loss - - - 100.8 
Fair value reserve movement - - - - 

The change in value shown above is due to the market movement in prices for investments, inclusive of additions.

Energy Developments Limited (EDL)

On 8 January 2010 Infratil sold its investment in EDL (2009: 31.6%) for $175.1 million.

Auckland International Airport Limited (AIA)

On 10 November 2009 Infratil sold its 3.87% (47.4 million shares) investment in AIA for $87.3 million. 

Investment in associates 
Investments in associates comprise:

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Aotea Energy Holdings Limited 311.8 - - - 
Mana Coach Holdings Limited 2.2 2.2 - - 

314.0 2.2 - - 
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Summary financial information for Aotea Energy Holdings Limited, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the Group:

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Aotea Energy Holdings Limited (‘AEHL’)
Current assets 783.6 - - - 
Non-current assets 669.9 - - - 
Total Assets 1,453.5 - - - 
Current liabilities 444.8 - - - 
Shareholder loans 244.5 - - - 
Redeemable preference shares 115.0 - - - 
Other non current liabilities 395.5 - - - 
Total liabilities 1,199.8 - - - 
Revenues 2,794.6 - - - 
Net Profit after tax 203.4 - - - 

The Group’s interest in AEHL includes a 50% equity interest, redeemable preference shares and a shareholder loan, acquired on 1 April 2010 for 
$209.75 million.

AEHL and its subsidiaries operate within the downstream oil industry.

Movement in the carrying amount of investment in AEHL (50% interest)
 2011 

$Millions
2010

$Millions
2011

$Millions
2010

$Millions

Share of associate’s net surplus before income tax 67.0 - - - 
Share of associate’s gain on acquisition 60.7 - - - 
Share of associate’s income tax (expense) (26.0) - - - 
Share of associate’s net profit after tax 101.7 - - - 
Interest on shareholder loan (including accruals) 8.9 - - - 
Dividend on RPS (including accruals) 5.2 - - - 
Total share of associate’s earnings in the period 115.8 - - - 

Cost of investment 209.8 - - - 

Shares 30.0 - - - 
Shareholder loan 131.2 - - - 
Redeemable preference shares 62.7 - - - 
Total investment 223.9 - - - 

Share of associate’s net profit after tax 101.7 - - - 

Less: Distributions received (13.8) - - - 

Carrying value of investment in associate 311.8 - - - 

	14) 	Intangible assets

Carrying amounts

Consolidated

Goodwill 
$Millions

Other 
Intangible 

Assets
$Millions

Total
$Millions

At 1 April 2010 242.0 67.1 309.1
At 31 March 2011 242.0 66.9 308.9

At 1 April 2009 246.3 72.7 319.0
At 31 March 2010 242.0 67.1 309.1
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Consolidated

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Goodwill
Balance at beginning of the year  243.6  247.9 
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries - (0.3)
Transfer to assets held for sale - (4.0)
Arising on acquisition of non-controlling interest in subsidiaries - -
Balance at the end of the year  243.6  243.6 

Impairment losses
Balance at beginning of the year (1.6) (1.6)
Impairment - -
Balance at the end of the year (1.6) (1.6)
Total goodwill 242.0 242.0 

Other intangible assets – lease agreements / software
Balance at beginning of the year  98.9  85.3 
FX adjustment on opening balance 0.3 (0.2)
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 0.4 -
Additions at cost  11.3  13.8 
Balance at the end of the year  110.9  98.9 

Other intangible assets – Customer acquisition costs
Balance at beginning of the year  36.9  26.0 
FX adjustment on opening balance  2.1  0.3 
Additions  11.6  10.6 
Balance at the end of the year  50.6  36.9 

Amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at beginning of the year (68.7) (38.6)
Amortisation for the year (24.2) (24.5)
Impairment loss (0.1) (6.1)
FX adjustment (1.6) 0.5 
Balance at the end of the year (94.6) (68.7)
Total other intangible assets 66.9 67.1 
Total intangible assets 308.9 309.1 

The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each cash generating unit are as follows:
The following units have significant carrying amounts of goodwill
NZ Bus 55.2 55.2
TrustPower 108.9 108.9
Lumo Energy 66.2 66.2
Units with insignificant goodwill 11.7 11.7

242.0 242.0

Recoverable amount is determined based on the following analysis and key assumptions: 

Goodwill amounts have been reviewed in the year and there are no impairments in the current year (2010: nil).

NZ Bus assessment of recoverable amount of goodwill is based on value in use calculations. Those calculations use cash flow projections taking 
into account actual operating results, current business plans, budgets and forecasts for the business and include passenger, fare, subsidy, operating 
costs and capital expenditure assumptions. The projected cash flows are for the period to 2024, as this represents the likely maturity date of funding 
contracts, and include a terminal value based on the present value of the assets at the end of that period. A pre-tax discount rate of 10.68% (2010: 
12.0%) has been used in discounting the projected cash flows and terminal value.

TrustPower goodwill relates to the acquisition of a further 15.3% interest in TrustPower in the 2007 financial year. The recoverable amount has been 
assessed by reference to the fair value of TrustPower, based on the market share price quoted on the NZX.

Lumo Energy Australia (Lumo Energy) assessment of the recoverable amount of goodwill is based on value in use calculations which have been 
determined by reference to cash flow projections taking into account actual operating results, current business plans and forecasts and include customer, 
tariff, energy, operating cost and churn assumptions based on five year projections. The key assumptions are customer growth of 11% p.a. (2010: 11%) 
for 4 years, then nil growth thereafter, margin growth and operating costs growth in line with CPI and a pre-tax discount rate of 13% (2010: 13%). 
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	15) 	Acquisition of subsidiaries
There were no acquisitions of subsidiary companies in either the current year or prior year.

	16) 	Taxation
Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Net surplus before taxation 195.0 106.3 89.8 82.8 

Taxation on the surplus for the year 58.5 31.9 26.9 24.8 

Plus/(less) taxation adjustments:
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 1.1 1.0 - -
Net benefit of imputation credits (2.5) (0.7) - -
Change in corporate income tax rate (9.6) - - -
Removal of tax depreciation on buildings 35.4 - - -
Exempt dividends - (1.3) (9.8) (10.8)
Tax losses not recognised 8.9 12.5 (18.7) (14.1)
Equity accounted earnings of associates (29.7) - - -
Temporary differences not recognised 14.8 0.9 1.4 (0.2)
(Over)/Under provision in prior years (1.9) 0.4 - -
Net investments realisations/(impairment) - (30.4) - -
Other permanent differences 0.4 (3.0) 0.2 0.3 
Taxation expense 75.4 11.3 - -
Current taxation 35.1 31.1 - -
Deferred taxation 40.3 (19.8) - -

75.4 11.3 - -

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income

31 March 2011

Before tax
$Millions

Tax (expense) 
/benefit

$Millions
Net of tax
$Millions

Differences arising on translation of foreign operations 19.6 0.7 20.3 
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (30.5) 8.0 (22.5)
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss - - -
Net change in fair value of property, plant & equipment recognised in equity 72.9 (6.6) 66.3 
Fair value movements in relation to executive share scheme 0.1 - 0.1 
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets - - -
Movement of available-for-sale financial assets transferred to profit and loss - - -
Balance at the end of the year 62.1 2.1 64.2 

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income

31 March 2010

Before tax
$Millions

Tax (expense) 
/benefit

$Millions
Net of tax
$Millions

Differences arising on translation of foreign operations (35.5) 4.4 (31.1)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 15.0 5.1 20.1 
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss 6.2 - 6.2 
Net change in fair value of property, plant & equipment recognised in equity 22.0 (2.1) 19.9 
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 79.4 - 79.4 
Movement of available-for-sale financial assets transferred to profit and loss (79.4) - (79.4)
Balance at the end of the year 7.7 7.4 15.1 
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In May 2010, the Government announced changes to the tax legislation to remove the ability to depreciate buildings for tax purposes when the life 
of the building is equal to or greater than 50 years. The Government also announced a decrease in the corporate income tax rate from 30% to 28% 
effective from the 2011/2012 tax year. The impact of these tax changes is: 

Building Depreciation: With effect from the 2012 financial year, the Group will no longer be able to claim tax depreciation on buildings. The impact 
of this change is to reduce the tax base for these assets, giving rise to an increased difference between the carrying cost and tax base for these assets 
and a resultant increase in the deferred tax liability and a charge to tax expense of $35.4 million.

Tax rate change: Deferred tax is required to be recorded at the tax rate that will apply when the future tax liability/asset is expected to be realised. 
The impact of the decrease in corporate income tax rate is a credit to tax expense of $9.6 million. 

These two adjustments are booked to taxation expense (net $25.9 million expense) and reserves ($13.4 million) in the 2011 financial year.

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on the Statement of Financial Position where they relate to entities within a Consolidated Income Tax Group.

Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Balance at the beginning of the year (339.5) (366.7) - -
Charge for the year (40.3) 19.8 - -
Deferred tax recognised in equity 5.0 7.0 - -
Effect of change in corporate income tax rate on comprehensive income 13.7 - - -
Revaluation of assets (14.7) (4.0) - -
Effect of movements in exchange rates (1.9) 4.4 - -
Balance at the end of the year (377.7) (339.5) - -

Deferred tax relating to tax losses carried forward not recognised amount to $3.9 million (2010: $10.9 million). The deferred tax charge for the year 
includes $35.4 million in relation to the removal of tax depreciation on buildings and $9.6 million in relation to the change in the corporate tax rate.

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Consolidated

Assets Liabilities

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Property, plant and equipment  2.5  2.7 (403.2) (374.6)
Investment property - - (13.1) (8.2)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 26.9  38.3 (6.7) (15.5)
Employee benefits  3.6  4.0 - -
Available-for-sale financial assets - - - -
Customer base assets - - (9.9) (11.5)
Provisions  4.2 3.0 - -
Other items  24.8 22.8 (6.8) (0.5)
Net tax assets/(liabilities) 62.0 70.8 (439.7) (410.3)

Net

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Property, plant and equipment (400.7) (371.9)
Investment property (13.1) (8.2)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20.2 22.8 
Employee benefits 3.6 4.0 
Available-for-sale financial assets - -
Customer base assets (9.9) (11.5)
Provisions 4.2 3.0 
Other items 18.0 22.3 
Net tax assets/(liabilities) (377.7) (339.5)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011



58

Changes in temporary differences affecting

Tax expense Reserves

Consolidated
2011

$Millions
2010

$Millions
2011

$Millions
2010

$Millions

Other property, plant and equipment movements (23.2) (0.3) (6.6) (2.1)
Intangible asset - 0.3 - -
Investment property (5.6) (0.5) - -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (9.4) - 8.0 (3.6)
Available-for-sale financial assets - - - -
Customer base assets 1.6 4.8 - -
Provisions 0.9 1.1 - -
Other (4.6) 14.4 0.7 13.1 

(40.3) 19.8 2.1 7.4 

Imputation credit account

Parent
2011

$Millions
2010

$Millions

Balance at the beginning of the year 5.6 3.7 
Imputation credits attached to dividends received during the year 14.0 15.9 
Less imputation credits attached to dividends paid during the year (14.4) (14.0)
Balance at the end of the year 5.2 5.6 

At balance date the imputation credits available to the shareholders of the parent company were:
Through direct shareholding in the parent company 5.2 5.6 
Through indirect interests in subsidiaries 10.0 8.1 
Balance at the end of the year 15.2 13.7 

	17) 	Property, plant and equipment

March 2011

Land and  
civil works

$Millions
Buildings
$Millions

Vehicles, 
plant and 

equipment
$Millions

Capital 
work in 

progress
$Millions

Metering
$Millions

Generation 
Plant 

(renewable)
$Millions

Generation 
Plant (non 

renewable)
$Millions

Total
$Millions

Cost or valuation
Balance at beginning of year 454.1 314.2 268.9 192.0 68.4 2,330.3 103.5 3,731.4 
Additions 4.4 1.1 12.6 203.2 4.2 11.4 0.1 237.0 
Capitalised interest and financing costs 11.6 - - 1.6 - - - 13.2 
Disposals (0.2) - (7.7) - - (1.4) - (9.3)
Impairment (19.6) (16.4) (6.9) - - - - (42.9)
Revaluation 2.0 (5.7) - - - 0.2 43.3 39.8 
Transfers between categories 9.7 29.5 10.7 (202.0) - 0.6 151.3 (0.2)
Transfer to assets held for sale - - - - - - - - 
Transfers to intangible assets - - (0.4) - - - - (0.4)
Transfers from/(to) investment properties - - - - - - - - 
Effect of movements in exchange rates (0.1) (0.5) 0.1 2.9 - 17.6 15.2 35.2 
Balance at end of year 461.9 322.2 277.3 197.7 72.6 2,358.7 313.4 4,003.8 

Accumulated depreciation and  
impairment losses
Balance at beginning of year 6.7 10.8 77.7 - 36.0 44.1 - 175.3 
Depreciation for the year 7.7 9.8 25.2 - 3.0 44.3 4.2 94.2 
Transfer to investment properties - - - - - - - - 
Revaluation (14.3) (16.4) (3.3) - - - (4.3) (38.3)
Disposals - - (6.7) - - - - (6.7)
Transfer to assets held for sale - - - - - - - - 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - - 0.2 - - 1.7 - 1.9 
Balance at end of year 0.1 4.2 93.1 - 39.0 90.1 (0.1) 226.4 
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March 2010

Land and  
civil works

$Millions
Buildings
$Millions

Vehicles, 
plant and 

equipment
$Millions

Capital 
work in 

progress
$Millions

Metering
$Millions

Generation 
Plant 

(renewable)
$Millions

Generation 
Plant (non 

renewable)
$Millions

Total
$Millions

Cost or valuation
Balance at beginning of year 476.0 341.4 243.4 71.7 64.8 2,304.5  70.0 3,571.8 
Additions 4.8 4.9 11.7 142.9 3.6 5.6 0.2 173.7 
Disposals 2.9 (3.2) (3.3) (0.4) - (0.7) - (4.7)
Impairments - - - - - - - - 
Revaluation (25.5) (25.9) (1.4) 0.2 - 0.2 27.5 (24.9)
Transfers between categories (1.0) 7.4 20.9 (26.7) - (1.3) 0.7 - 
Transfer to assets held for sale - - - - - - - - 
Transfers from/(to) investment properties 10.3 (0.2) - - - - - 10.1 
Effect of movements in exchange rates (13.4) (10.2) (2.4) 4.3 - 22.0 5.1 5.4 
Balance at end of year 454.1 314.2 268.9 192.0 68.4 2,330.3 103.5 3,731.4 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses
Balance at beginning of year - 3.6 57.2 - 33.2 (0.1)  2.1 96.0 
Depreciation for the year 8.2 9.7 24.2 - 2.8 44.2 0.9 90.0 
Transfer to investment properties - - - - - - - - 
Revaluation (1.3) (2.2) (1.4) - - - (3.2) (8.1)
Disposals - - (2.6) - - - - (2.6)
Transfer to assets held for sale - - - - - - - - 
Effect of movements in exchange rates (0.2) (0.3) 0.3 - - - 0.2 - 
Balance at end of year 6.7 10.8 77.7 - 36.0 44.1 - 175.3 

Carrying amounts
At 1 April 2010  447.4  303.4  191.2  192.0  32.4  2,286.2  103.5  3,556.1 
At 31 March 2011  461.8  318.0  184.2  197.7  33.6  2,268.6  313.5  3,777.4 
At 1 April 2009  476.0  337.8  186.2  71.7  31.6  2,304.6  67.9  3,475.8 
At 31 March 2010  447.4  303.4  191.2  192.0  32.4  2,286.2  103.5  3,556.1

Wellington International Airport
All land, buildings and civil works were revalued at 31 March 2011 in accordance with the New Zealand Institute of Valuer’s asset valuation standards. 
The valuation was undertaken by independent registered valuers, Telfer Young Limited for land and buildings (fair value: $483.5 million), and Opus 
International Consultants Limited for civil works (fair value: $142.7 million). Where the fair value of an asset is able to be determined by reference to 
market-based evidence, such as sales of comparable assets or discounted cash flows, the fair value is determined using this information. Where the 
assets are of a specialised nature and do not have observable market values in their existing use, optimised depreciated replacement cost is used as 
the basis of the valuation. This measures net current value as the most efficient, lowest cost which would replace existing assets and offer the same 
amount of utility in their present use. Where there is an observable market, an income based approach is used.

During the year, construction was completed on the new international and domestic departure terminal “The Rock”. Construction costs for “The Rock” 
during the year were $13.4 million, including capitalised borrowing costs of $1.1 million, and total construction costs of $38.4 million were capitalised 
to property, plant and equipment on 1 November 2010 when the new terminal came into use. At 31 March, capitalised borrowing costs amounted to 
$1.1 million (2010: $1.6 million), with a capitalisation rate of 7.0% (2010: 7.0%)”

Airports Europe 
Land, buildings and civil works at Glasgow Prestwick and Manston Airport were fair valued at 31 March 2011 at $71.7 million (GBP 44.0 million)  
(2010: Glasgow Prestwick $89.3 million (GBP 41.8 million)) based on an external valuation performed by Drivers Jonas Deloitte, England. The valuation 
was performed by a fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) in accordance with the recommendations of the RICS as defined 
within the RICS appraisal and valuation manual. The key assumptions in these valuations include future passenger and freight volumes, commercial 
revenue yields, the ongoing operating and maintenance costs for each airport and the appropriate discount and capitalisation rates.

Generation property, plant and equipment 
Renewable generation includes freehold land and buildings which are not separately identifiable from other generation assets. The Group’s generation 
property, plant and equipment is stated at fair value as determined by an independent valuation undertaken on an at least three-yearly basis. The 
valuations are reviewed annually and if it is considered that there has been a material change then a new independent valuation is undertaken. The 
basis of the valuation is a discounted cash flow analysis of the future earnings of the assets. The major inputs that are used in the valuation model 
that require management judgement include the forward price path of electricity, sales volume forecasts, projected operational and capital expenditure 
profiles, discount rates and life assumptions for each generation station. These inputs are determined as per the table below. Renewable generation 
assets were independently valued, using a discounted cash flow methodology as at 31 March 2009, to their estimated market value as determined 
by Deloitte Corporate Finance. The key assumptions in this valuation include future wholesale electricity prices, the future output of the assets, the 
remaining life of the assets, the ongoing operating and maintenance costs for each asset and TrustPower’s weighted average cost of capital. Non-
renewable generation plant and equipment held by Infratil Energy Australia were valued at $114.6 million as at 31 March 2011 (2010: $103.5 million) 
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by the directors using a discounted cashflow methodology. In determining their valuations, directors relied upon, amongst other factors, valuation 
works performed by BDO Corporate Finance (QLD) as at 31 March 2011. The key assumptions in this valuation include future wholesale electricity 
prices, the future output of the assets, the remaining life of the assets, the ongoing operating and maintenance costs for each asset and Infratil Energy 
Australia’s weighted average cost of capital. Non-renewable generation plant held by Perth Energy Pty Limited were valued at $145 million as at 31 
March 2011 (2010: $132.4 million carried at cost in capital work in progress) by the directors using a discounted cashflow methodology. In determining 
their valuations, directors relied upon, amongst other factors, valuation works performed by BDO Corporate Finance (QLD) as at 31 March 2011. The key 
assumptions in this valuation include future wholesale electricity prices, the future output of the assets, the remaining life of the assets, the ongoing 
operating and maintenance costs for each asset and Perth Energy’s weighted average cost of capital.

Property, plant and equipment valuations - key assumptions 
The key input assumptions adopted in the valuation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment are set out below:

Generation renewable Low High

New Zealand Assets
Forward electricity price path Increasing in real terms 

from $73 to $82 by 2012  
then constant.

Increasing in real terms 
from $78 to $87 by 2012  
then constant.

Generation volume 2,032 GWh 2,483 GWh
Operating costs $23 million p.a. $29 million p.a.
Weighted average cost of capital 8.0% 8.5%

Australian Assets
Forward electricity price path (Stated in AUD) Until 2018 

$72 in real terms. After  
2018 declining to $60 
by 2028 in real terms. 
Thereafter held constant

(Stated in AUD) Until 2018 
$78 in real terms. After 2018 
declining to $66 by 2028 in 
real terms. Thereafter held 
constant

Generation volume 350 GWh 428 GWh
Weighted average cost of capital 7.6% 8.1%

Generation non-renewable (Infratil Energy Australia) Low High

Weighted average cost of capital 9% 10%
$300 MWh Cap price based on Long Run Marginal Cost of new entrant  
peaking generator 31/3/10 terms increasing by CPI -0.5%

A$15.25 A$17.25

Plant reliability 98% 98%
Despatch 95% 95%

Generation non-renewable (Perth Energy Pty Ltd) Low High

Weighted average cost of capital 9.5% 10.5%
Reserve capacity price per MW A$186,000 A$186,000
Plant reliability 98% 98%
Despatch 90% 90%

Airports Europe Low High

Discount rate (pre-tax) 12.5% 15.0%
Capitalisation rate 8.0% 9.3%
Passenger compound annual growth rates 5.2% 46.2%
Freight compound annual growth rate 3.1% 13.5%

The high case valuation for passenger numbers of 46.2% relates to the growth rate for Manston airport and a low starting base for passengers.
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Wellington International Airport

Asset classification and description Valuation approach Key valuation assumptions

Land
Aeronautical land - used for airport activities and specialised 
non-aeronautical assets. 

Non- Aeronautical land - used for non-aeronautical purposes 
e.g. industrial, service, retail and land associated with the 
vehicle business.

Zonal approach - direct sales 
comparison with appropriate 
adjustment for intensity of 
development, location, titles, 
easement and services

Sales value per square metre 
applied ranging from $38 to $800 
per m2, with a weighted average 
of $195 per m2

Civil
Civil works includes sea protection and site services, excluding 
such site services to the extent that they would otherwise create 
duplication of value.

Optimised depreciated 
replacement cost

Average cost rates including 
concrete $740 per m3, asphalt $833 
per m3, basecourse $83 per m3 and 
foundations $15 per m3

Buildings
Specialised buildings used for identified airport activities. Optimised depreciated 

replacement cost derived from 
modern equivalent asset rate

Modern equivalent asset rates 
ranging from $175 to $5,000 per m2, 
with a weighted average of $4,050 
per m2

Buildings other than for identified airport activities, including 
space allocated within the main terminal building for retail 
activities, carparking, offices and storage that exist because of 
the airport activities.

Optimised depreciated 
replacement cost derived from 
modern equivalent asset rate

Modern equivalent asset rates 
ranging from $550 to $1,900 per m2, 
with a weighted average of $1,364 
per m2

Vehicle business assets
Assets associated with car parking and taxi, shuttle and bus 
services (excluding land).

Discounted cash flow Revenue growth 3% per annum

Cost growth 3% per annum

Discount rate 13%

Vehicles, plant and equipment
Vehicles, plant and equipment comprises a mixture of  
specialised and non-specialised assets.

Book value -

For each revalued class the carrying amount that would have been recognised had the assets been carried on a historical cost basis are as follows:

Revalued Assets at Deemed Cost

Land and 
civil works

$Millions
Buildings
$Millions

Vehicles, 
plant and 

equipment
$Millions

Capital work 
in progress

$Millions

Generation 
Plant 

(renewable)
$Millions

Generation 
Plant (non 

renewable)
$Millions

Total
$Millions

Cost 299.2 262.3 42.2 49.3 1,402.1 237.2 2,292.3 
Assets under construction (at cost) 9.7 29.3 4.2 (43.2) 98.6 - 98.6 
Less accumulated depreciation (91.3) (78.5) (21.4) - (266.5) (7.9) (465.6)
Net book value 31 March 2011 217.6 213.1 25.0 6.1 1,234.2 229.3 1,925.3 

Cost 336.9 280.4 262.9 170.2 1,370.2 74.4 2,495.0 
Assets under construction (at cost) 7.2 0.1 0.1 16.6 13.2 - 37.2 
Less accumulated depreciation (50.8) (65.7) (85.5) - (216.5) 3.2 (415.3)
Net book value 31 March 2010 293.3 214.8 177.5 186.8 1,166.9 77.6 2,116.9

	18) 	Investment properties
Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Balance at beginning of year 75.9 90.9 - - 
Transfer (to)/from property, plant and equipment - (10.1) - - 
Change in fair value (2.4) (0.1) - - 
FX movement (0.4) (4.8) - - 
Balance at end of year 73.1 75.9 - - 

Infratil Airports Europe investment properties were valued at 31 March 2011 by Drivers Jonas Deloitte, an independent registered valuer in the United 
Kingdom. This valuation was performed by a fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) in accordance with the recommendations of the 
RICS as defined within the RICS appraisal and valuation manual. Fair value of the investment properties valued was $24.2 million (2010: $27.2 million). 
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Wellington International Airport investment properties were valued at 31 March 2011 by Telfer Young, an independent registered valuer.  
The fair value of the investment properties valued was $48.9 million (2010: $48.7 million). 

Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Amounts recognised in profit or loss for:
Rental income from investment properties  4.2  4.7  -    -   
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that generate income (0.6) (0.7)  -    -   

 3.6  4.0  -    -   

 Wellington International 
Airport 

 Infratil Airports  
Europe Limited 

2011 2010 2011 2010

The principal assumptions in establishing the valuations were as follows:
Discounted cash flow - average (%) 11.0% 10.8%  n/a  n/a 
Capitalisation rate - average (%) 9.0% 8.8% 10.0% 10-12%
Weighted average lease term (years) 3.3 4.4 4.5 4.5

	19) 	Financial instruments
The Group has exposure to the following risks due to its business activities and financial policies:

•	 Credit risk

•	 Liquidity risk

•	 Market risk (interest rates, foreign exchange and energy prices)

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The Group has established 
Audit and Risk Committees for Infratil and each of its significant subsidiaries with responsibilities which include reviewing management practices in relation to 
identification and management of significant business risk areas and regulatory compliance. The Group has developed a comprehensive, enterprise wide risk 
management framework. Management and Board throughout the Group participate in the identification, assessment and monitoring of new and existing risks. 
Particular attention is given to strategic risks that could affect the Group. Management report to the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board on the relevant 
risks and the controls and treatments for those risks.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations, resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group is 
exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business including those arising from trade receivables with its customers, financial derivatives and 
transactions (including cash balances) with financial institutions. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit-worthy counterparties, as 
a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group minimises its exposure to credit risk of trade receivables through the adoption 
of counterparty credit limits and standard payment terms. Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high-credit-quality financial 
institutions and organisations in the relevant industry. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of counterparties are monitored, and the aggregate 
value of transactions concluded are spread amongst approved counterparties. The carrying amounts of financial assets recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position best represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date. Generally no security is held on these amounts.

The Group had credit risk with finance institutions at balance date from cash deposits held including: $109.2 million with financial institutions with 
“AA” credit ratings from Standard & Poors (2010: $108.6 million) and $48.3 million with financial institutions with ‘A’ credit ratings (2010: $72.3 million) 
from Standard & Poors or equivalent from other rating agencies.

The Group has exposure to various counterparties. Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the Group’s large 
customer base in a diverse range of industries throughout New Zealand, Australia and the United Kingdom. 

Ageing of trade receivables
Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
Not past due  266.1  249.3  4.1  2.5 
Past due 0-30 days  15.8  15.4  -  - 
Past due 31-90 days  9.7  11.0  -  - 
Greater than 90 days  17.8  11.7  -  - 
Total 309.4 287.4 4.1 2.5 

The ageing analysis of impaired trade receivables is as follows:
Not past due (3.5) (3.5) -  - 
Past due 0-30 days (2.0) (1.3) -  - 
Past due 31-90 days (5.2) (2.5) -  - 
Greater than 90 days (10.8) (10.2) -  - 
Total (21.5) (17.5) - -
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Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables for  
the year was as follows:
Balance as at 1st April 17.5 12.5 - -
Impairment loss recognised 4.0 5.0 - -
Balance as at 31 March 21.5 17.5 - -

Other prepayments and receivables 68.9  55.9 -  - 
Total Trade, accounts receivable and prepayments 356.8 325.8 4.1 2.5 

Liquidity risk is the risk that assets held by the Group cannot readily be converted to cash to meet the Group’s contracted cash flow obligations. 
Liquidity risk is monitored by continuously forecasting cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due and make value investments, 
under both normal and stress conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group manages 
liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities, the spreading of debt maturities, and its credit standing in capital markets.

The tables below analyse the Group’s financial liabilities excluding gross settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the earliest possible contractual maturity date at the year end date. The amounts in the tables below are contractual undiscounted cash flows, which 
include interest through to maturity. PIIBs cash flows have been determined by reference to the longest dated Infratil bond maturity of 2020.

Consolidated

2011

Balance 
sheet

$Millions

Contractual 
cash flows

$Millions

6 months  
or less

$Millions

6-12  
months

$Millions

1 to 2  
years

$Millions

2 to 5  
years

$Millions

5  
years +

$Millions

Accounts payable, accruals, vendor financing  
and other liabilities 345.1  334.5  284.6 15.0 16.6 18.3 - 
Unsecured/Secured bank facilities 756.8  770.7  19.3  6.7  48.1  591.2 105.4 
Unsecured/Secured bank guarantees -  35.6  22.7  9.9  -    2.4 0.6 
Infratil bonds  619.9  840.5  103.0  42.3  99.8  333.8  261.6 
PIIBs  234.9 357.2 5.9 5.9 11.9 35.7 297.8 
WIAL bonds 248.3 302.2 6.3 6.3 12.6 120.1 156.9 
TPW bonds 473.3  617.6  19.4  19.2 142.6  299.0  137.4 
Derivative financial instruments 127.3  133.2  50.4  36.1  14.0  21.4  11.3 

2,805.6  3,391.5  511.6  141.4  345.6  1,421.9  971.0 
2010
Accounts payable, accruals, vendor financing  
and other liabilities 287.2 287.2 272.8 0.6 13.8 - - 
Unsecured/Secured bank facilities  631.2  669.0  318.9  5.6  193.4  151.1 - 
Unsecured/Secured bank guarantees  -  51.4  32.3  4.3  6.6  7.7 0.5 
Infratil bonds  508.5  703.7  25.1  21.9  165.8  195.7  295.2 
PIIBs 235.5 334.5 5.9 5.9 11.9 11.9 298.9 
WIAL bonds 247.9 312.5 6.0 6.0 12.0 125.6 162.9 
TPW bonds 398.7  555.7  16.7  16.5  33.3  308.8  180.4 
Derivative financial instruments  110.5  110.5  36.2  28.2  34.6  6.1  5.4 

2,419.5  3,024.5  713.9  89.0  471.4  806.9  943.3

2011

Parent

Balance 
sheet

$Millions

Contractual 
cash flows

$Millions

6 months  
or less

$Millions

6-12  
months

$Millions

1 to 2  
years

$Millions

2 to 5  
years

$Millions

5  
years +

$Millions

 Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities 10.2 10.2 10.2 - - - - 
 Infratil bonds  619.9  840.5  103.0  42.3  99.8  333.8  261.6 
 PIIBs  234.9  357.2  5.9  5.9  11.9  35.7  297.8 
 Derivative financial instruments 9.6  9.6  0.6  0.6  1.2  3.5  3.7 

874.6  1,217.5  119.7  48.8  112.9  373.0  563.1 
2010
 Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities 11.3 11.3 11.3 - - - - 
 Infratil bonds  508.5  703.7  25.1  21.9  165.8  195.7 295.2 
 PIIBs  235.5  334.5  5.9  5.9  11.9  11.9 298.9 
 Derivative financial instruments 4.8 4.8  0.2 4.6 - - - 

760.1  1,054.3  42.5  32.4  177.7  207.6  594.1
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Market Risk

Interest rate risk (cash flow and fair value). Interest rate risk is the risk of interest rate volatility negatively affecting the Group’s interest expense 
cash flow and earnings. Infratil mitigates this risk by issuing term borrowings at fixed interest rates and entering into Interest Rate Swaps to convert 
floating rate exposures to fixed rate exposure. Borrowing issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk which is managed by the 
interest rate profile and hedging.

Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

At balance date the face value of interest rate contracts outstanding were:
Interest rate swaps in place at year end 996.6 1,206.9  325.0 100.0 
Fair value of interest rate swaps (40.4) (13.8) (24.6) (4.8)

The termination dates for the interest rate swaps are as follows:
Between 0 to 1 year - 379.5  - - 
Between 1 to 2 years 76.8 -  - - 
Between 2 to 5 years 337.7 158.4 50.0 - 
Over 5 years 582.1 669.0 275.0 100.0 

Sensitivity analysis
At 31 March 2011, if bank interest rates at that date had been 100 basis points higher, with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year 
would have been $8.8 million higher and equity would have been $0.9 million higher. Had bank interest rates been 100 basis points lower, with all other 
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $10.0 million lower and equity would have been $1.3 million lower (2010: post tax 
profit $35.1 million higher/lower and equity $37.1 million higher/lower).

Foreign currency

The Group has exposure to currency risk on the value of its net investment in foreign investments, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies, future investment obligations and future income. Foreign currency obligations and income are recognised as soon as the flow of funds is 
likely to occur. Decisions on buying forward cover for likely foreign currency investments is subject to the Group’s expectation of the fair value of the 
relevant exchange rate. 

The Group enters into forward exchange contracts to reduce the risk from price fluctuations of foreign currency commitments associated with the 
construction of generation assets and to hedge the risk of its net investment in foreign subsidiaries. Any resulting differential to be paid or received as 
a result of the currency hedging of the asset is reflected in the final cost of the asset. The Group has elected to apply cash flow hedge accounting to 
these instruments.

The aggregate notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2011 was $350.8 million (2010: $186.2 
million). At balance date the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding were liabilities of $18.0 million (2010: assets of $0.9 million). 
These contracts mature at dates between one and twelve months from the balance sheet date.

Sensitivity analysis
Significant assumptions used in the foreign currency exposure sensitivity analysis include:

•	 Reasonably possible movements in foreign exchange rates were determined based on a review of the last two years’ historical movements. 
A movement of plus or minus 10% has therefore been applied to the AUD/NZD, GBP/NZD and USD/NZD exchange rates to demonstrate the 
sensitivity of foreign currency risk of the company’s investment in foreign operations and associated derivative financial instruments.

•	 The sensitivity was calculated by taking the AUD, GBP and USD spot rate as at balance date, moving this spot rate by the reasonably possible 
movements of plus and minus 10% and then reconverting the AUD, GBP and USD with the ‘new spot-rate’. This methodology reflects the translation 
methodology undertaken by the group.

At 31 March 2011, if the New Zealand dollar had weakened/strengthened by 10 per cent against the currencies with which the Group has foreign 
currency risk with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $23.5 million higher/$43.4 million lower (2010: not 
materially different).

Other components of equity would have been $0.3 million higher/$0.8 million lower (2010: $2.4 million higher/lower), arising from foreign exchange 
gains/losses on revaluation of foreign exchange contracts in a cash flow hedge relationship.

The Group incurs foreign currency risk as a result of offshore investments denominated in a currency other than the Group’s functional currency.

The currencies giving rise to the currency risk are pounds sterling and Australian dollars (refer below).
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At balance date the Group has the following unhedged currency exposures arising on foreign currency monetary assets and monetary liabilities that fall 
due within the next twelve months:

Consolidated

2011
Millions

2010
Millions

Cash, short term deposits and trade receivables
Great British Pounds (GBP)  4.9  5.1 
Australian Dollars (AUD)  216.6  209.0 

Bank overdraft, bank debt and accounts payable
Great British Pounds (GBP)  0.7 7.3 
Australian Dollars (AUD)  253.1 273.5 

Energy Price Risk is the risk that results will be impacted by fluctuations in spot energy prices. The Group meets its energy sales demand by 
purchasing energy on spot markets, physical deliveries and financial derivative contracts. This exposes the Group to fluctuations in the spot and forward 
price of energy. The Group has entered into a number of energy hedge contracts to reduce the energy price risk from price fluctuations. These hedge 
contracts establish the price at which future specified quantities of energy are purchased and settled. Any resulting differential to be paid or received 
is recognised as a component of energy costs through the term of the contract. The Group has elected to apply cash flow hedge accounting to those 
instruments it deems material and which qualify as cash flow hedges.

The aggregate notional volume of the outstanding energy derivatives at 31 March 2011 was 5,491 GWh (2010: 5,815 GWh) of electricity and 0.0 Tj 
(2010: 2.7Tj) of gas and 24,000 (2010: 6,500) barrels of oil. 

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had energy contracts outstanding with various maturities up to December 2015. The hedged anticipated energy 
purchase transactions are expected to occur continuously throughout the contract period from balance sheet date consistent with the Group’s forecast 
energy generation and retail energy sales. Gains and losses recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve on energy derivatives as of 31 March 2011 will 
be continuously released to the income statement in each period in which the underlying purchase transactions are recognised in the profit or loss.

Termination dates for financial derivatives - energy are as follows:

Consolidated

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Between 0 to 1 year (42.4) (50.6)
Between 1 to 2 years (14.3) (28.3)
Between 2 to 5 years (0.1) 9.3 
Over 5 years - -

(56.8) (69.6)

Sensitivity analysis
The following tables summarise the impact of increases/decreases of the relevant forward electricity prices on the Group’s post-tax profit for the 
year and on other components of equity. The sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that the relevant forward energy prices had increased/
decreased with all other variables held constant.

Consolidated

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Impact on profit of a 10% decrease in energy forward price (9.0) (15.9)
Impact on profit of a 10% increase in energy forward price 10.0 15.2 
Impact on equity of a 10% decrease in energy forward price 5.8 9.8 
Impact on equity of a 10% increase in energy forward price (5.8) (9.8)
Impact on profit of a 5% decrease in gas derivative contract value - 0.5 
Impact on profit of a 5% increase in gas derivative contract value - (0.5)
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Fair values: The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements is their fair value, with the exception 
of debt held at amortised cost.

The carrying value of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Derivative financial instruments – energy 3.8 18.6 60.6 88.2 
Derivative financial instruments – investments and other 8.1 9.4 66.7 22.3 

11.9 28.0 127.3 110.5 

Split as follows:
Current 4.6 5.5 70.8 60.9 
Non-current 7.3 22.5 56.5 49.6 

11.9 28.0 127.3 110.5 

Net

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Derivative financial instruments - energy (56.8) (69.6)
Derivative financial instruments - investments and other (58.6) (12.9)

(115.4) (82.5)

Split as follows:
Current (66.2) (55.4)
Non-current (49.2) (27.1)

(115.4) (82.5)

The Parent has Interest Rate Swap derivative liabilities recorded in the financial statements with a fair value of $9.6m (2010: $4.8m). The current 
portion of these liabilities is $1.2m (2010: $0.6m).

Estimation of fair values

The fair values and net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• 	 The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with 
reference to quoted market prices.

•	 The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities are calculated using market-quoted rates based on discounted cash flow analysis.

•	 The fair value of derivative financial instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, use is made of discounted 
cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve or available forward price data for the duration of the instruments.

Where the fair value of a derivative is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the instrument, the two key types of 
variables used by the valuation techniques are:

•	 forward price curve (for the relevant underlying interest rates, foreign exchange rates or commodity prices); and

•	 discount rates. 

Valuation Input Source

Interest rate forward price curve Published market swap rates

Foreign exchange forward prices Published spot foreign exchange rates

Electricity forward price curve Market quoted prices where available and management’s best estimate 
based on its view of the long run marginal cost of new generation where 
no market quoted prices are available

Discount rate for valuing interest rate derivatives Published market interest rates as applicable to the remaining  
life of the instrument

Discount rate for valuing forward foreign exchange contracts Published market rates as applicable to the remaining life of  
the instrument

Discount rate for valuing electricity price derivatives Assumed counterparty cost of funds ranging from 4.0% to 4.9%  
(2010: 3.8% to 8.4%)
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The selection of variables requires significant judgement and therefore there is a range of reasonably possible assumptions in respect of these 
variables that could be used in estimating the fair value of these derivatives. Maximum use is made of observable market data when selecting 
variables and developing assumptions for the valuation techniques.

Effective 1 April 2009 the Group adopted the amendment to NZ IFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position 
at fair value, this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

•	 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

•	 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly 
(that is, derived from prices) (level 2)

•	 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3)

The following tables present the Group’s and Parent’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value.

Consolidated
Level 1

$millions
Level 2

$millions
Level 3

$millions
Total

$millions

31 March 2011
Assets per the statement of financial position
Derivative financial instruments  -  8.4  3.5  11.9 
Total  -  8.4  3.5  11.9 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position
Derivative financial instruments  31.4  77.4  18.5  127.3 
Total  31.4  77.4  18.5  127.3 

31 March 2010
Assets per the statement of financial position
Derivative financial instruments  0.3  9.2  18.5  28.0 
Total  0.3  9.2  18.5  28.0 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position
Derivative financial instruments  62.2  44.0  4.3  110.5 
Total  62.2  44.0  4.3  110.5 

Parent
Level 1

$millions
Level 2

$millions
Level 3

$millions
Total

$millions

31 March 2011
Assets per the statement of financial position
Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  - 
Total  -  -  -  - 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position
Derivative financial instruments  -  9.6  -  9.6 
Total  -  9.6  -  9.6 

31 March 2010
Assets per the statement of financial position
Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  - 
Total  -  -  -  - 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position
Derivative financial instruments  -  4.8  -  4.8 
Total  -  4.8  -  4.8 
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The following table reconciles the movements in level 3 for measurement of the fair value hierarchy:

2011
$Millions

 Gas contracts 
treated as 

derivatives 

2011
$Millions

 Electricity 
price 

derivatives 

2011
$Millions

 
 

 Total 

Assets per the statement of financial position
Opening balance - 18.5  18.5 
Fx movement on opening balance - - -
Gains and (losses) recognised in profit or loss - 1.4  1.4 
Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income - (16.4)  (16.4)
Closing balance - 3.5  3.5 
Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the 
reporting period - 3.2  3.2 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position
Opening balance 2.2 2.1  4.3 
Fx movement on opening balance - (0.1) (0.1)
(Gains) and losses recognised in profit or loss (2.2) 0.9  (1.3)
(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income - 15.6  15.6 
Closing balance - 18.5  18.5 
Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profit or loss for liabilities held at the end of 
the reporting period - 1.9 1.9 
Settlements during the year (2.2) 26.4  24.2 

 2010 
 $Millions 

 Gas contracts 
treated as 

derivatives 

 2010 
 $Millions 

 Electricity 
price 

derivatives 

 2010 
 $Millions 

 
 

 Total 

Assets per the statement of financial position
Opening balance -  3.1  3.1 
Gains and (losses) recognised in profit or loss -  (1.0)  (1.0)
Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income -  16.4  16.4 
Closing balance -  18.5  18.5 
Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the 
reporting period -  2.3  2.3 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position
Opening balance  2.3  3.3  5.6 
Fx movement on opening balance  0.1 -  0.1 
(Gains) and losses recognised in profit or loss  0.2  0.8  1.0 
(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income -  (2.0)  (2.0)
Closing balance 2.6  2.1  4.7 
Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profit or loss for liabilities held at the end of 
the reporting period  0.2  (1.2)  (1.0)
Settlements during the year  0.2  24.4  24.6 

Gas contracts treated as derivatives – The favourable and unfavourable effects of using reasonably possible alternative assumptions for fair value 
derivative assets and liabilities have been calculated by adjusting the unobservable model inputs in the models at 31 March 2011. The unobservable 
input in gas is an available market price. 

Electricity price derivatives are classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because the assumed location factors which are used to adjust 
the forward price path are unobservable.
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Asset and liability fair value classification

2011
Designated 

Fair Value

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

Total  
carrying 
amount Fair value

Assets
Other investments, including derivatives 11.9 9.7 21.6 21.6 
Cash and cash equivalents -  157.5 157.5 157.5 
Trade and other receivables, and prepayments -  360.7 360.7 360.7 
Total assets 11.9 527.9 539.8 539.8 

Liabilities
Bonds - 1,576.4 1,576.4 1,521.5 
Loans and other borrowings - 756.8 756.8 756.8 
Derivative financial instruments 127.3 - 127.3 127.3 
Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities - 345.0 345.0 345.0 
Total liabilities 127.3 2,678.2 2,805.5 2,750.6 

2010
Designated 

Fair Value

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

Total  
carrying 
amount Fair value

Assets
Other investments, including derivatives 37.7 -  37.7  37.7 
Cash and cash equivalents -  180.9  180.9  180.9 
Trade and other receivables, and prepayments -  325.8  325.8  325.8 
Total assets 37.7 506.7 544.4 544.4 

Liabilities
Bonds -  1,390.6  1,390.6  1,331.9 
Loans and other borrowings -  631.2  631.2  632.5 
Derivative financial instruments 110.5 -  110.5  110.5 
Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities -  287.2  287.2  287.2 
Total liabilities 110.5 2,309.0 2,419.5 2,362.1 

Capital management
The key factors in determining Infratil’s optimal capital structure are:

•	 Nature of activities 

•	 Quality and dependability of earnings/cash flows

•	 Capital needs over the forecast period

•	 Available sources of capital and relative cost

The Group’s capital includes share capital, reserves, retained earnings and minority interests. From time to time the Group purchases its own shares 
on the market with the timing of these purchases dependent on market prices and an assessment of value for shareholders. Primarily the shares are 
intended to be held as treasury stock and may be held as treasury stock for 12 months. Buy and sell decisions are made on a specific transaction basis 
by the Board. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. The Company and the Group’s borrowings are 
subject to certain compliance ratios relevant to the facility agreements or the trust deed applicable to the borrowings.

The Group seeks to ensure that no more than 25% of its non-bank debt is maturing in any one year period, and to spread the maturities of its bank debt 
between one and five years, with no more than 35% of facilities maturing in any six month period. Discussions on refinancing of bank debt facilities 
will normally commence at least six months before maturity with facility terms agreed at least two months prior to maturity. Bank facilities are 
maintained with AA or above rated financial institutions, with a minimum number of bank counterparties to ensure diversification. The Group manages 
its interest rate profile so as to minimise value volatility. This means having interest costs fixed for extended terms. At times when long rates appear to 
be sustainably high, the profile may be shortened, and when rates are low the profile may be lengthened.
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Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided  
by total capital.

•	 Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less short term deposits. Total borrowings are calculated using a value of unsecured bank loans plus 
unsecured subordinated and senior bonds.

•	 Total capital funding is calculated as total equity as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt.

Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Net debt
Bank debt 756.8 631.2 - -
Vendor financing 48.7 - - -
Infrastructure bonds 619.9 508.5 619.9 508.5 
Perpetual Infratil infrastructure bonds 234.9 235.5 234.9 235.5 
Wellington International Airport bonds 248.3 247.9 - -
TrustPower bonds 473.3 398.7 - -
Cash at bank / bank overdraft (157.5) (180.9) - -

2,224.4 1,840.9 854.8 744.0 

Equity
Total equity 1,842.9 1,731.3 657.1 566.7 
Total capital funding 4,067.3 3,572.2 1,511.9 1,310.7 

Gearing ratio 55% 52% 57% 57%

	20)	Infrastructure bonds
Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Balance at the beginning of the year 744.0 744.2 744.0 744.2 
Issued during the year 147.9 - 147.9 -
Matured during the year (0.7) - (0.7) -
Exchanged during the year (32.8) - (32.8) -
Purchased by Infratil during the year (1.0) (0.6) (1.0) (0.6)
Bond issue costs capitalised during the year (3.1) - (3.1) -
Bond issue costs amortised during the year 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.4 
Balance at the end of the year 854.8 744.0 854.8 744.0 

Current 99.3 0.7 99.3 0.7 
Non current fixed coupon 520.6 507.8 520.6 507.8 
Non current perpetual - variable coupon 234.9 235.5 234.9 235.5 
Balance at the end of the year 854.8 744.0 854.8 744.0 

Repayment terms and interest rates:
Maturing in November 2010, 7.25% per annum fixed coupon rate - 0.7 - 0.7 
Maturing in May 2011, 8.25% per annum fixed coupon rate 79.3 112.1 79.3 112.1 
Maturing in November 2011, 8.5% per annum fixed coupon rate 20.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 
Maturing in November 2012, 7.75% per annum fixed coupon rate 57.4 57.4 57.4 57.4 
Maturing in September 2013, 8.5% per annum fixed coupon rate 85.3 85.3 85.3 85.3 
Maturing in November 2015, 8.5% per annum fixed coupon rate 152.8 152.8 152.8 152.8 
Maturing in June 2016, 8.5% per annum fixed coupon rate 100.0 - 100.0 -
Maturing in June 2017, 8.5% per annum fixed coupon rate 47.9 - 47.9 -
Maturing in February 2020, 8.5% per annum fixed coupon rate 80.5 80.5 80.5 80.5 
Perpetual Infratil infrastructure bonds (PIIBs) 238.3 239.3 238.3 239.3 
Bond issue costs capitalised and amortised over term (6.7) (4.1) (6.7) (4.1)
Balance at the end of the year 854.8 744.0 854.8 744.0 
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Fixed coupon

The fixed coupon bonds the Company has on issue are at a face value of $1.00 per bond. Interest is payable quarterly on the bonds. 25 days prior 
to the maturity date, Infratil can elect to redeem all infrastructure bonds in that series at their $1.00 face value payable in cash or convert all the 
infrastructure bonds in the relevant series by issuing the number of shares obtained by dividing the $1.00 face value by the product of the relevant 
conversion percentage of 98% and the market price. The market price is the average price weighted by volume of all trades of ordinary shares over the 
10 business days up to the fifth business day before the maturity date.

Perpetual Infratil infrastructure bonds (PIIBs)

The Company has 238,331,200 (2010: 239,315,100) infrastructure bonds (series 20) on issue at a face value of $1.00 per bond. Interest is payable 
quarterly on the bonds. For the year to 15 November 2011 the coupon is fixed at 4.99% per annum. Thereafter the rate will be reset annually at 1.5% 
per annum over the then one year bank rate (quarterly), unless Infratil’s gearing ratio exceeds certain thresholds, in which case the margin increases. 
These infrastructure bonds have no fixed maturity date. 983,900 (2010: 584,900) of PIIBs were repurchased by Infratil Limited during the year.

At 31 March the Infratil Infrastructure bonds (including the PIIBs) had a fair value of $768.4 million (2010: $659.7 million).

	21) 	Unsecured bonds

Unsecured subordinated bonds

Consolidated

 2011 
$Millions

2010
$Millions

TrustPower bonds

Repayment terms and interest:
Maturing in September 2012, 8.5% per annum fixed coupon rate 108.6 108.6 
Maturing in March 2014, 8.5% per annum fixed coupon rate 54.7 54.7 
Maturing in December 2015, 8.4% per annum fixed coupon rate 100.0 100.0 
Bond issue costs (1.5) (2.1)
Balance at the end of the year 261.8 261.2 

At maturity the TrustPower bonds can be converted at the option of TrustPower to ordinary shares based on the market price of ordinary shares at the time. 
The bonds are fully subordinated behind all other creditors. At 31 March 2011 the bonds had a fair value of $274.8 million (31 March 2010: $274.3 million).

Unsecured senior bonds
 2011 

$Millions
2010

$Millions

TrustPower bonds

Repayment terms and interest:
Maturing in December 2014, 7.6% per annum fixed coupon rate 75.0 75.0 
Maturing in December 2016, 8.0% per annum fixed coupon rate 65.0 65.0 
Maturing in December 2017, 7.1% per annum fixed coupon rate 75.0 -
Bond issue costs (3.5) (2.5)
Balance at the end of the year 211.5 137.5 

TrustPower has entered a Trust Deed dated 30 October 2009 (the Trust Deed) with respect to its senior bonds, which with limited exceptions does not 
permit TrustPower to grant any security interest over its assets. The Trust Deed requires the Group to operate within defined performance and debt 
gearing ratios. The arrangements under the Trust Deed may also create restrictions over the sale or disposal of certain assets unless the senior bonds 
are repaid or renegotiated. Throughout the period TrustPower has complied with all debt covenant requirements as imposed by the bond trustee.

At 31 March 2011 the bonds had a fair value of $223.3 million (31 March 2010: $143.4 million). 

Unsecured subordinated bonds
 2011 

$Millions
2010

$Millions

Wellington International Airport bonds
Retail bonds maturing in November 2013, 7.50% per annum fixed coupon rate 100.0 100.0 
Wholesale bonds maturing August 2017, 3.43% per annum to 2 May 2011, then repriced quarterly at BKBM 
plus 25bps 150.0 150.0 
Bond issue costs (1.7) (2.1)
Balance at the end of the year 248.3 247.9 

At 31 March 2011 the bonds had a fair value of $255.0 million (31 March 2010: $254.5 million).
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	22)	Emission rights
 2011 

(Tonnes CO2-e)
000’s

2010
(Tonnes CO2-e)

000’s

Verified Voluntary Emission Reductions
Balance at beginning of year 291 321 
Rights verified during the year - -
Rights sold during the year - (30)
Rights used internally - -
Rights unsold at end of the year 291 291 

The Verified Voluntary Emission Reductions above relate to completed generation production for the period from 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2007.

As at 31 March 2011, unsold Verified Voluntary Emission Reductions were valued at nil (2010: nil)

Kyoto Carbon Credits

The Group has received 1,476,000 (2010:1,476,000) tonnes of carbon emission rights from the New Zealand Government issued pursuant to the Kyoto 
protocol in relation to completed generation facilities. This represents the maximum rights based upon specified levels of generation output from the 
new facilities for the period 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2012 and is reliant on the ongoing support of the Kyoto protocol and emission rights within 
the international community. The Group believes that it will be able to utilise 1,310,000 tonnes of these carbon emission rights. This potential revenue 
source is taken into consideration in the evaluation of generation development projects and in the valuation of the generation assets. A contract has 
been signed with Electrabel, a European energy company, for the sale of 228,000 tonnes of carbon emission rights over five years from 2008-2012. 
This sale is dependent on the Group’s Tararua Stage II wind farm producing a minimum level of output. A contract has been signed with The Kansai 
Electric Power Company, a Japanese energy company, for the sale of 300,000 tonnes of carbon emission rights over five years from 2008-2012. Further 
contracts have been signed covering emission rights generated over the same period. These sales are dependent on the Group’s Tararua Stage III wind 
farm producing a minimum level of output.

Kyoto Carbon Credits

 2011 
(Tonnes CO2-e)

000’s

2010
(Tonnes CO2-e)

000’s

Balance at the beginning of the year 98 65 
Rights verified during the year 227 231 
Rights sold during the year (168) (198)
Rights unsold at end of the year 157 98 

	23)	Investment in subsidiaries and associates 
The significant companies of the Infratil Group and their activities are shown below:

The financial year-end of all the significant subsidiaries and associates is 31 March.

Subsidiaries
2011
Holding

2010
Holding Principal activity

Country of 
incorporation

Investment activities
New Zealand
Infratil Investments Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil Securities Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil Gas Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil 1998 Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
NZ Airports Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil Australia Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil Finance Limited 100% 100% Finance New Zealand
Infratil UK Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil Ventures Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil Europe Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Swift Transport Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil Energy Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil Energy NZ Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Snapper Services Limited 100% 100% Technology New Zealand
Infratil No. 1 Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Infratil Infrastructure Property Limited 100% 100% Property Investment New Zealand
Infratil Outdoor Media Limited 100% 100% Advertising New Zealand
Infratil Insurance Co Limited 100% 100% Dormant New Zealand
Infratil No. 5 Limited 100% 100% Dormant New Zealand
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Subsidiaries
2011
Holding

2010
Holding Principal activity

Country of 
incorporation

Transportation activities 

New Zealand
New Zealand Bus Finance Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
New Zealand Bus Limited 100% 100% Investment New Zealand
Transportation Auckland Corporation Limited 100% 100% Public transport New Zealand
Auckland Integrated Ticketing Limited 83% 83% Ticketing New Zealand
Wellington City Transport Limited 100% 100% Public transport New Zealand
North City Bus Limited 100% 100% Public transport New Zealand
Cityline (NZ) Limited 100% 100% Public transport New Zealand
Wellington Integrated Ticketing Limited 63% 63% Ticketing New Zealand
Stagecoach New Zealand Limited 100% 100% Non-trading New Zealand

Airport activities

New Zealand
Wellington International Airport Limited 66% 66% Airport New Zealand
i-site Limited 66% 66% Advertising New Zealand
North West Auckland Airport Limited 75% 75% Airport New Zealand

United Kingdom
Infratil Airports Europe Limited 100% 100% Holding company United Kingdom
Glasgow Prestwick Airport Limited 100% 100% Airport United Kingdom
Prestwick Airport Limited 100% 100% Property United Kingdom
Infratil Kent Facilities Limited 100% 100% Property United Kingdom
Infratil Kent Airport Limited 100% 100% Airport United Kingdom
PIK MRO Limited 100% 100% Maintenance/repair/

overhaul aircraft
United Kingdom

The Airport Driving Range Company Limited 100% 100% Non-trading United Kingdom
Prestwick Airport Infrastructure Limited 100% 100% Property United Kingdom
Prestwick Airport Property Limited 100% 100% Property United Kingdom

Energy activities

New Zealand
TrustPower Limited 50.6% 50.5% Electricity retailer/

generator
New Zealand

Cobb Power Limited 50.6% 50.5% Generator New Zealand
Tararua Wind Power Limited 50.6% 50.5% Generator New Zealand
TrustPower Metering Limited 50.6% 50.5% Metering New Zealand
Esk Hydro Power Limited (acquired 26 November 2009) 50.6% 50.5% Generation 

Development
New Zealand

Australia
Infratil Energy Australia Pty Limited 100% 100% Wholesale energy/

holding company
Australia

Western Energy Pty Limited 81.2% 81.2% Electricity generation Australia
Lumo Energy Australia Pty Limited (formerly Victoria Electricity Pty Limited) 100% 100% Electricity retailer Australia
Lumo Energy Telecommunications Pty Ltd  
(formerly VE Telecommunications Pty Ltd)

100% 100% Electricity retailer Australia

Direct Connect Australia Pty Limited 100% 100% Utility connections Australia
Lumo Energy (QLD) Pty Ltd (formerly Queensland Electricity Pty Ltd) 100% 100% Electricity retailer Australia
Lumo Energy (NSW) Pty Ltd (formerly New South Wales Electricity Pty Ltd) 100% 100% Electricity retailer Australia
Lumo Generation NSW Pty Limited (incorporated 4 November 2010) 100% 0% Electricity generation Australia
Lumo Energy (SA) Pty Ltd (formerly South Australia Electricity Pty Ltd) 100% 100% Electricity retailer Australia
Perth Energy Pty Limited 81.2% 81.2% Electricity retailer Australia
WA Power Exchange Pty Limited 81.2% 81.2% Electricity retailer Australia
Infratil Energy Group Pty Limited 100% 100% Non-trading Australia
Emagy Pty Limited 100% 100% Wholesale energy Australia
TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd and Subsidiaries 50.6% 50.5% Retail and generation Australia

Associates

Mana Coach Holdings Limited 26% 26% Public Transport New Zealand
Aotea Energy Holdings Limited (acquired 1 April 2010) 50% 0% Fuels distribution and 

retailing
New Zealand

	24)	Defined contribution plans
The Company makes contributions to a number of defined contribution plans. During the year the amount recognised as an expense was $5.1 million 
(2010: $3.3 million).
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	25)	Leases
The Parent company is not party to and does not have any leases. The Group has receivables from operating leases relating to the lease of premises. 
These receivables expire as follows: 

Consolidated

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Operating lease receivables as lessor
Between 0 to 1 year  20.1  17.9 
Between 1 to 2 years  16.8  16.1 
Between 2 to 5 years  26.8  30.3 
More than 5 years  5.8  9.2 

 69.5  73.5 

Electricity lease revenue during the year of $30.5 million (2010: $30.6 million), is revenue recognised in connection with Snow town Wind Farm 
Pty Ltd’s (a subsidiary of TrustPower) Power Purchase Agreement to sell 90% of all energy generated by the Snowtown Wind Farm to a significant 
Australian electricity retailer. This agreement has been deemed as an operating lease of the wind farm under NZ IFRS and all revenue under the 
contract accounted for as lease revenue. Because of the contract terms, in particular that the volume of energy supplied is variable dependent on the 
actual generation of the Snowtown Wind Farm, the future minimum payments under the term of the contract, that expires on 31 December 2018, are 
contingent in nature and therefore not able to be quantified.

The Group has commitments under operating leases relating to the lease of premises, the hire of plant and equipment and the lease of gas storage 
facilities. These commitments expire as follows:

Consolidated

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Operating lease commitments as lessee
Between 0 to 1 year  28.0  20.3 
Between 1 to 2 years  29.1  12.5 
Between 2 to 5 years  29.6  30.0 
More than 5 years  35.6  41.6 

 122.3  104.4 

iSite Limited leases a large number of billboard and light-box sites under operating leases including those with additional rent payments based on site 
revenue. The leases run for periods ranging from 1 to 20 years.

The Group has leased certain items of its equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is 4 years. The minimum payments under the terms 
of the leases are as follows:

Consolidated

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Gross finance lease liabilities - minimum lease payments
No later than 1 year  0.3  - 
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years  0.8  - 

 1.1  - 
Future finance charges on finance leases (0.3)  - 
Present value of finance lease liabilities  0.8  - 

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:
No later than 1 year  0.2  - 
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years  0.6  - 
Present value of finance lease liabilities  0.8  - 
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	26) 	Reconciliation of net surplus with cash flow from operating activities
Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Net surplus for the year 119.6 95.0 89.8 82.8 

(Gain)/Less items classified as investing activity
(Gain)/loss on investment realisations and impairments 32.5 (86.5) (0.4) - 

Add items not involving cash flows
Movement in financial derivatives taken to the profit or loss 3.9 67.5 4.8 (1.0)
Decrease in deferred tax liability excluding transfers to reserves 40.3 (8.5) - - 
Changes in fair value of investment properties 2.4 0.1 - - 
Equity accounted earnings of associate net of distributions received (102.0) - - - 
Non cash movements in advance to subsidiaries - - (141.6) (164.2)
Depreciation 94.2 90.0 - - 
Provision for bad debts 18.5 24.3 - - 
Amortisation 24.2 24.0 - - 
Other 7.9 (4.5) 0.1 - 

Movements in working capital
Change in receivables (21.0) (72.3) 2.1 (1.9)
Change in inventories (4.6) - - - 
Change in trade payables (29.0) 5.6 (1.2) 0.9 
Change in accruals and other liabilities 0.7 21.2 - - 
Change in current and deferred taxation (9.1) (24.1) - - 
Net cash flow from operating activities 178.5 131.8 (46.4) (83.4)

	27)	Key management personnel disclosures 
Key management personnel have been defined as the Chief Executives and direct reports for the Group’s operating subsidiaries (excluding Directors).

Key management personnel remuneration comprised: 

Consolidated

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Short-term employee benefits 15.1 16.6 
Post employment benefits 0.3 0.4 
Termination benefits 0.3 0.1 
Other long-term benefits 1.6 2.2 
Share based payments - 0.1 

17.3 19.4 

Directors fees paid to directors of Infratil Limited and its subsidaries during the year were $2.7 million (2010: $2.4 million).

See also management fees paid to Infratil’s manager in the Related parties and Management fee to Morrison & Co Infrastructure Management Limited 
(‘MCIM’) notes.
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	28)	Segment analysis
Reportable segments of the Group, as at 31 March, are analysed by significant businesses. The Group has six reportable segments, as described below. 

TrustPower is our renewable generation investment, Wellington International Airport is our Wellington Airport Investment, NZ Bus is our transportation 
investment, Infratil Energy Australia (including Perth Energy) is our non renewable generation investment and Infratil Airports Europe is our UK Airport 
Investment. Corporate includes, other investments less financing, management and other corporate costs.

For the year ended 31 March 2011

TrustPower

New Zealand

$Millions

Wellington 
Airport

New Zealand

$Millions

NZBus

New Zealand

$Millions

Infratil 
Energy 

Australia

Australia

$Millions

Infratil 
Airports 
Europe

UK

$Millions

All other 
segments 

and 
corporate

New Zealand

$Millions

Eliminations

$Millions

Total

$Millions

Segment revenue - total 766.0 114.7 203.9 897.2 43.0 16.4 - 2,041.2 
Share of earnings of Associate Companies - - - - - 115.8 - 115.8 
Inter-segment revenue - - (3.0) - - (10.0) - (13.0)
Segment revenue - external 766.0 114.7 200.9 897.2 43.0 122.2 - 2,144.0 

EBITDAF 274.4 72.2 40.1 55.0 (11.3) 89.9 - 520.3 
Interest revenue 0.9 0.7 - 1.8 - 25.9 (24.4) 4.9 
Interest expense (62.7) (18.0) (8.3) (18.8) (3.3) (86.3) 24.4 (173.0)
Depreciation and amortisation (54.9) (15.5) (17.9) (19.3) (7.5) (3.3) - (118.4)
Financial derivative fair value movements 0.1 (12.5) - 45.5 - (37.0) - (3.9)
Investment transaction costs expensed - - - - - - - -
Realisations - (0.3) (0.7) - - 0.5 - (0.5)
Impairment losses - - - - (34.4) - - (34.4)
Taxation expense (45.4) (26.6) 1.4 (19.3) 6.0 8.5 - (75.4)
Segment result 112.4 - 14.6 44.9 (50.5) (1.8) - 119.6 

Equity accounted investment in associates - - - - - 314.0 - 314.0 
Total non current assets (excluding financial 
instruments and deferred tax) 2,583.5 703.4 216.0 491.9 116.9 371.4 - 4,483.1 
Total assets 2,714.4 749.9 235.3 798.0 123.5 412.0 - 5,033.1 
Total liabilities 1,187.0 385.8 45.0 353.4 32.3 1,186.7 - 3,190.2 
Capital expenditure/investment (including 
accruals) 108.5 15.6 16.5 116.1 6.6 212.0 - 475.3 

For the year ended 31 March 2010

TrustPower

New Zealand

$Millions

Wellington 
Airport

New Zealand

$Millions

NZBus

New Zealand

$Millions

Infratil 
Energy 

Australia

Australia

$Millions

Infratil 
Airports 
Europe

UK

$Millions

All other 
segments 

and 
corporate

New Zealand

$Millions

Eliminations

$Millions

Total

$Millions

Segment revenue - total 759.3 104.6 196.5 711.0 55.9 18.1 - 1,845.4 
Inter-segment revenue - - (3.0) - - (6.5) - (9.5)
Segment revenue - external 759.3 104.6 193.5 711.0 55.9 11.6 - 1,835.9 

EBITDAF 273.9 68.3 29.1 11.0 (8.6) (10.4) - 363.3 
Interest revenue 0.4 0.8 0.4 2.7 1.5 31.1 (29.0) 7.9 
Interest expense (59.1) (17.6) (9.3) (16.9) (4.5) (88.8) 29.0 (167.2)
Depreciation and amortisation (55.0) (15.8) (16.2) (15.2) (8.2) (3.6) - (114.0)
Financial derivative fair value movements 12.5 (4.5) - (75.4) - (0.1) - (67.5)
Investment transaction costs expensed - - - - - (2.6) - (2.6)
Realisations - (0.7) 11.3 - 15.2 104.9 - 130.7 
Impairment losses (6.1) - (0.1) - (38.1) - - (44.3)
Taxation expense (47.1) (6.5) 1.6 28.2 9.9 2.6 - (11.3)
Segment result 119.5 24.0 16.8 (65.6) (32.8) 33.1 - 95.0 

Non current assets (excluding financial 
instruments and deferred tax) 2,512.9 682.0 218.7 327.8 155.2 54.2 - 3,950.8 
Total assets 2,667.7 726.9 237.0 601.2 166.9 101.1 - 4,500.8 
Total liabilities 1,121.7 357.0 37.3 275.3 43.1 935.1 - 2,769.5 
Capital expenditure/investment (including 
accruals) 29.3 22.5 16.2 116.2 5.4 3.4 - 193.0
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	28)	Segment analysis (continued)
Entity wide disclosure - geographical

The Group operated in three principal areas New Zealand, Australia and the United Kingdom. The groups geographical segments are based on the 
location of both customers and assets. 

For the year ended 31 March 2011
New Zealand

$Millions
Australia
$Millions

United 
Kingdom

$Millions
Eliminations

$Millions
Total

$Millions

Segment revenue - total 1,057.1 928.1 43.0 - 2,028.2 
Share of earnings of Associate Companies 115.8 - - - 115.8 
Inter-segment revenue - - - - -
Segment revenue - external 1,172.9 928.1 43.0 - 2,144.0 

EBITDAF 454.4 77.2 (11.3) - 520.3 
Interest revenue 19.0 2.1 - (16.2) 4.9 
Interest expense (152.1) (33.8) (3.3) 16.2 (173.0)
Depreciation and amortisation (83.0) (27.9) (7.5) - (118.4)
Financial derivative fair value movements (50.1) 46.2 - - (3.9)
Realisations (0.5) - - - (0.5)
Impairment losses - - (34.4) - (34.4)
Taxation expense (64.0) (17.4) 6.0 - (75.4)
Segment result 123.7 46.4 (50.5) - 119.6 

Non current assets (excluding financial instruments and 
deferred tax) 3,537.7 828.5 116.9 - 4,483.1 
Total assets 3,756.5 1,153.1 123.5 - 5,033.1 
Total liabilities 2,574.7 583.2 32.3 - 3,190.2 
Investment in associates 314.0 - - - 314.0 
Capital expenditure/investment (including accruals) 352.0 116.7 6.6 - 475.3 

For the year ended 31 March 2010
New Zealand

$Millions
Australia
$Millions

Europe
$Millions

Eliminations
$Millions

Total
$Millions

Segment revenue - total 1,028.8 751.2 55.9 - 1,835.9 
Inter-segment revenue - - - - -
Segment revenue - external 1,028.8 751.2 55.9 - 1,835.9 

EBITDAF 329.1 42.8 (8.6) - 363.3 
Interest revenue 23.0 3.2 1.5 (19.8) 7.9 
Interest expense (151.4) (31.1) (4.5) 19.8 (167.2)
Depreciation and amortisation (77.3) (28.5) (8.2) - (114.0)
Financial derivative fair value movements (1.4) (66.1) - - (67.5)
Investment transaction costs expensed (2.6) - - - (2.6)
Realisations 115.5 - 15.2 - 130.7 
Impairment losses (6.2) - (38.1) - (44.3)
Taxation expense (46.4) 25.2 9.9 - (11.3)
Segment result 182.3 (54.5) (32.8) - 95.0 

Non current assets (excluding financial instruments and 
deferred tax) 3,467.8 327.8 155.2 - 3,950.8 
Total assets 3,237.9 1,096.0 166.9 - 4,500.8 
Total liabilities 2,212.1 514.3 43.1 - 2,769.5 
Capital expenditure/investment (including accruals) 70.6 117.0 5.4 - 193.0 

The group has no significant reliance on any one customer.
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	29)	Share scheme
Infratil Executive Redeemable Share Scheme

During the year selected key eligible executives and senior managers of Infratil and certain of its subsidiaries were invited to participate in the Infratil 
Executive Redeemable Share Scheme to acquire Executive Redeemable shares (‘Executive Shares’). The Executive Shares have certain rights and 
conditions and cannot be traded until those conditions have been met. The Executive Shares confer no rights to receive dividends or other distributions 
or vote. Up to three million Executive Shares may be issued which will convert to ordinary shares after three years (other than in defined circumstances) 
provided that the issue price has been fully paid and vesting conditions have been met. The vesting conditions include share performance hurdles with 
minimum future share price targets which need to be achieved over the specified period. The number of shares that “vest” (or LTI bonus paid) is based 
on the share price performance over the relevant period of the Infratil ordinary shares. If the executive is still employed by the Group at the end of the 
specified period, provided the share performance hurdles are met the employee receives a long term incentive bonus (LTI) which must be used to repay 
the outstanding balance of the Executive Shares and the Executive Shares are then converted to fully paid ordinary shares of Infratil.

535,000 (2010: 339,000) Infratil Executive Redeemable Shares were granted at a price of $1.8732 on 6 December 2010 (2010: $1.6236 on 3 November 
2009), at the volume weighted average market price over the 20 business days immediately preceding the date on which the shares were issued to 
each executive. One cent per Executive Share was paid up in cash by the executive with the balance of the issue price payable when the executive 
becomes eligible to receive the long term incentive bonus. The fair value of Executive Shares at the grant date was estimated using the following 
weighted average assumptions:

Year ended 31 March 

Consolidated

2011 2010

Risk-free interest rate 6% 6%
Cost of equity 14% 14%
Expected stock price volatility 25-30% 25-30%
Mean estimate of price  $3.087  $3.087 
Present value of expected dividends  $0.174  $0.174 
Adjustment for lack of transferability 35% 35%
Forecast returns to Shareholders 12% 12%

Executive Shares are valued based on the market price at date of grant adjusted for dividends that are not received. Volatility is based on historic volatility in 
Infratil’s share price. The performance hurdles noted above are included in the valuation model used in determining the fair value of options issued during the year. 
In the event that there is a consolidation or subdivision of the ordinary shares, then the number of Executive Shares offered will increase (or decrease as the case 
may be) and the issue price will decrease (or increase respectively) in the same proportion. In the event of an offer for the ordinary shares of the company, the LTI 
bonus determination date will be accelerated to the date the offer becomes unconditional. The carrying amount of the liability for the long term incentive bonus at 
31 March 2011 was $0.2 million (2010: $0.1 million).

Infratil Staff Share Purchase Scheme

In 2008 Infratil commenced a staff share purchase scheme (the “Staff Share Scheme”). Under the Staff Share Scheme participating employees have a beneficial 
title to the ordinary shares, which are held by a trustee company. The loan in respect of the shares is repayable over a period of three years. Upon repayment of 
the loan and three years’ service by the participating employee, the ordinary shares will transfer from the trustee company to the participating employee, and 
the shares become unrestricted. Other than in exceptional circumstances, the length of the retention period before the shares vest is three years during which 
time the ordinary shares cannot be sold or disposed of.

The balance of the loans owing by the Group to the Trustee at 31 March 2011 is $0.2 million (2010: $0.3 million).

Shares acquired under the Staff Share Purchase Scheme are as follows:

Expiry date

Balance at  
1 April  

Held on Trust
Issued during 

period

Withdrawals 
from scheme 

during year

Balance at  
31 March 

held  
on Trust

Effective date No. No. No. No.

Opening balance March 2010 284,848 284,848 
20/12/2010 (issue price $1.69) 20/12/13 94,423 379,271 
Closing balance March 2011 (27,314) 351,957 

Opening balance March 2009 196,442 196,442 
16/12/2009 (issue price $1.65) 16/12/12  107,576 304,018 
24/12/2009 (issue price $1.66) 24/12/12  3,132 307,150 
Closing balance March 2010 (22,302) 284,848 

Opening balance March 2008 - -
2/12/2008 (issue price $1.48) 2/12/11  187,256 187,256 
8/10/2008 (issue price $1.85) 8/10/11  11,816 199,072 
Closing balance March 2009 (2,630) 196,442 

The total charge recognised in the profit and loss for the schemes in the 2011 year was $0.3 million (2010: $0.2 million). 
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	30)	Commitments

Capital commitments

Consolidated

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Committed but not contracted for 2.7  9.7 
Contracted but not provided for 53.8  94.1 

56.5  103.8 

Energy purchase commitments

TrustPower has a long term contract with Mighty River Power Limited to purchase the output from the Rotokawa geothermal power station until 31 
March 2013, a contract with Pioneer Generation Limited to purchase all of the output from its various generation sites, and a contract with Ngawha 
Generation Limited to purchase all of the output from its Ngawha power station, these commitments cannot be quantified.

	31)	Contingent liabilities
Subsidiaries have outstanding letters of credit to suppliers totalling $0.3 million (2010: $0.3 million), and performance bonds totalling $3.7 million 
(March 2010: $3.7 million).

The Company and certain wholly owned subsidiaries are guarantors of the bank debt facilities of Infratil Finance Limited under a Deed of Negative 
Pledge, Guarantee and Subordination and the Company is a guarantor to certain obligations of subsidiary companies.

The Company has a contingent liability under the management agreement with MCIM in the event that the Group sells its international or venture 
capital fund assets or valuation of the assets exceeds the performance thresholds set out in the management agreement.

The Company and Group have provided guarantees in the ordinary course of business to certain of its energy and trading suppliers.

The Company has agreed to guarantee certain obligations of Infratil Trustee Limited, a related party, that is the Trustee to the Infratil Staff Share 
Scheme. The amount of the guarantee is limited to the loans provided to the employees.

During 2007 the European Commission opened formal proceedings alleging state aid in relation to Lübeck airport (owned and operated by Flughafen 
Lübeck GmbH, one of the Group’s subsidiaries at that time). In 2009 Infratil exercised a put option and sold its interest in Lübeck Airport back to the 
City of Lübeck. Lübeck is one out of six airports in Germany where the European Commission opened a formal proceeding. Infratil understands a 
significant number of other airports in Germany and elsewhere in the European Union are in earlier stages of investigation. Of the four matters being 
investigated, three relate to arrangements with Ryanair which were entered into prior to the sale of the airport to the Infratil Airports Europe Limited 
(“IAEL”). IAEL and Flughafen Lübeck GmbH have been working with Ryanair, the Hanseatic City of Lübeck and the government of the Federal Republic of 
Germany to refute these allegations of state aid, and their outcome is not expected to affect IAEL’s financial position. In relation to the fourth, IAEL and 
Flughafen Lübeck GmbH fully maintain their legal and factual position that the open tender process in 2005 that resulted in the purchase of Flughafen 
Lübeck GmbH cannot by its very nature involve state aid and continue to be confident that they will be able to demonstrate this to the Commission 
and, if necessary, the European Court of Justice. As the directors cannot predict with any degree of certainty the outcome of the above matter, it is not 
possible to assess accurately the quantum of any financial cost to the Group. 

Bank guarantees totalling $35.6 million (March 2010: $51.4 million) have been issued to a range of counterparties to facilitate trading in the various 
energy markets and related transmission networks. These guarantees have the benefit of a Deed of Negative Pledge, Subordination and Guarantee 
from Infratil Limited and its wholly owned guaranteeing subsidiaries.

Inland Revenue is currently disputing the tax treatment adopted by TrustPower in relation to feasibility expenditure in the 2006, 2007 and 2008 financial 
years. TrustPower believes the tax treatment adopted is correct and is defending its position. Should Inland Revenue be completely successful in its 
claim, the resulting liability would give rise to an additional tax payment of $6.8 million and interest expense of $3.1 million. Further TrustPower would 
need to revise its policy for claiming tax deductions for feasibility expenditure in the 2009 and future years. This would give rise to a further estimated 
tax payment of $4.0 million and interest expense of $0.5 million in respect of the 2009, 2010 and 2011 years. 

TrustPower has provided a guarantee to Rangitata Diversion Race Management Limited (RDR) to allow RDR to borrow funds to purchase land. The 
maximum amount TrustPower could be liable to pay is $0.8 million (March 2010: $0.8 million). This maximum liability would only be payable if RDR was 
unable to service its debt and was unable to sell the land.

Aotea Energy Holdings has guaranteed an exposure of up to $5.1 million to a financier of one of its associate companies. Aotea Energy Holdings is not 
expecting to be required to honour this guarantee.
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	32)	Earnings per share
2011

$Millions
2010

$Millions

Net surplus attributable to ordinary shareholders 64.5 29.0 

Basic earnings per share: cps cps
Basic earnings per share (cps) 10.8 5.2 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
2011

Millions
2010

Millions

Issued ordinary shares at 1 April 567.7 520.2 
Effect of new shares issued - 5.5 
Effect of issue of partly paid shares - -
Effect of shares issued through warrant exercise 32.9 29.6 
Effect of shares issued through dividend reinvestment plan 2.0 -
Effect of shares bought back (4.8) -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of year 597.8 555.3 

Diluted earnings per share recognising warrants on issue cps cps
Diluted earnings per share (cps) 10.7 5.2 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)
Weighted average ordinary shares (calculated above) 597.8 555.3 
Effect of warrants on issue during the period 5.2 6.6 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of year 603.0 561.9 

The net surplus attributable to parent company shareholders is the same for the calculation of Basic and Diluted earnings per share. The average 
market value of the Company’s shares for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted market prices for the 
year that the warrants were outstanding. 

	33)	Related parties
Certain Infratil Directors have relevant interests in a number of companies with which Infratil has transactions in the normal course of business. A 
number of key management personnel are also Directors of Group subsidiary companies. Transactions undertaken with Group companies have been 
entered into on an arm’s length commercial basis.

Morrison & Co Infrastructure Management Limited (‘MCIM’) is the management company for the Company. MCIM received management fees and 
incentive fees in accordance with the management agreement of $17.7 million and $5.9 million (excluding GST) respectively (2010: $16.5 million and nil 
excluding GST). Included in trade creditors is an amount of $1.3 million excluding GST (2010: $1.4 million excluding GST) for management fees for the 
month of March 2011.

MCIM is owned by H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited (‘MCO’). Messrs H R L Morrison and D P Saville are directors of the Company, and Mr Muh (an 
alternate director) is an executive of MCO. Mr Bogoievski is Chief Executive Officer of MCO. Entities associated with Mr Morrison, Mr Saville and Mr 
Bogoievski own shares in MCO. 

Other fees paid by the Group to MCIM, MCO or its related parties are:

Consolidated Parent

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

2011
$Millions

2010
$Millions

Consulting 0.3 0.2 -  0.2 
Financial management, accounting, treasury, compliance and administrative 
services 1.0 1.0 1.0  1.0 
Risk management reporting 0.3 0.3 -  0.3 
Investment banking services 1.1  3.6 0.9  3.6 
Total other fees and services 2.7 5.1 1.9 5.1
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Employees of MCO, or MCO received directors fees from the Company’s subsidiaries or associated companies as follows:

2011 2010

Wellington International Airport NZD 82,583 NZD 80,000
Infratil Airports Europe STG 82,291 STG 75,000
NZ Bus NZD 152,500 NZD 130,000
Lumo Energy AUD 255,000 AUD 200,000
TrustPower NZD 220,000 NZD 195,000
Infratil Energy Australia AUD 65,000 AUD 100,000
Snapper Services NZD 65,000 NZD 80,000
Aotea Energy Holdings and subsidiaries NZD 120,000 -

Parent Company advances 

Advances due from subsidiary companies are repayable on demand and are at interest rates up to 12% (2010: 10%).

Note 23 identifies significant group entities and associates in which Infratil has an interest. All of these entities are related parties of the Company.

Advances

The Group has made loans to Infratil Trustee Company Limited of $0.2 million (2010: $0.3 million) in relation to the Infratil Staff Share Purchase Scheme.

	34)	Management fee to Morrison & Co Infrastructure Management Limited (‘MCIM’)
The management fee to MCIM comprises a number of different components:

A New Zealand base management fee is paid on the “New Zealand Company Value” at the rates of 1.125% per annum on New Zealand Company 
value up to $50 million. 1.0% per annum on the New Zealand Company Value between $50 million and $150 million, and 0.80% per annum on the 
New Zealand Company Value above $150 million. The New Zealand Company Value is:

•	 the Company’s market capitalisation as defined in the management agreement (i.e. the aggregated market value of the Company’s listed securities, 
being ordinary shares, partly paid shares, infrastructure bonds and warrants):

•	 plus the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries’ net debt (excluding listed debt securities and the book value of the debt in any non-
Australasian investments):

•	 minus the cost price of any non-Australasian investments: and

•	 plus/minus an adjustment for foreign exchange gains or losses related to non-New Zealand investments.

An international fund management fee is paid at the rate of 1.50% per annum on:

•	 the cost price of any non-Australasian investments: plus

•	 the book value of the debt in any wholly owned non-Australasian investments.

The investment in the Glasgow Prestwick group of companies is treated as an investment in a New Zealand asset for management fee purposes.

•	 An international fund incentive fee is payable at the rate of 20% of gains on the international (including Australian) assets in excess of 12% per 
annum post tax.

•	 A venture capital fund management fee is payable, at the rate of 2% per annum on investment entities with values up to $7.5 million and 1.2% 
per annum on investment entities with values over $7.5 million. A venture capital fund incentive fee is payable at the rate of 20% of gains on the 
investment assets in excess of 17.5% per annum pre-tax.

	35)	Events after balance date
Dividend

Subsequent to 31 March 2011 the Directors have approved a fully imputed final dividend of 4.25 cents per share to holders of fully paid ordinary shares 
to be paid on the 17th of June 2011.                                              
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Infratil Limited

Report on the Company and Group Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Infratil Limited (‘’the company’’) and the group, comprising the company and its subsidiaries, on 
pages 38 to 81. The financial statements comprise the statement of financial position of the company and the group as at 31 March 2011, the statements 
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the company and group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Company and Group Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of company and group financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand and International Financial Reporting Standards that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate, and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of company and group financial statements that are free from material misstatement 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these company and group financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the company and group financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the company and group financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company and group’s preparation of 
the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company and group’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the presentation of the 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Our firm has also provided other services to the company and group in relation to taxation and general accounting services. Partners and employees of 
our firm may also deal with the company and group on normal terms within the ordinary course of trading activities of the business of the company and 
group. These matters have not impaired our independence as auditors of the company and group. The firm has no other relationship with, or interest in, the 
company and group.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements of Infratil Limited and its subsidiaries (‘’the company and group’’) on pages 38 to 81:

•	 comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;

•	 comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

•	 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and the group as at 31 March 2011 and of the financial performance and cash flows of 
the company and the group for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of sections 16(1)(d) and 16(1)(e) of the Financial Reporting Act 1993, we report that:

•	 we have obtained all the information and explanations that we have required; and

•	 in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by Infratil Limited and its subsidiaries as far as appears from our examination of those records.

16 May 2011

Wellington
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Role of the Board
The Board of Directors of Infratil is elected by the shareholders to supervise 
management of Infratil. The day to day management responsibilities of the 
Infratil have been delegated to Morrison & Co Infrastructure Management 
Limited (“MCIM” and “the Manager”). The Board sets Infratil’s objectives, 
and establishes the overall policy framework within which the business is 
conducted and confirms strategies for achieving these objectives. The Board 
also monitors performance and ensures that procedures are in place to 
provide effective internal financial control. 

The Board’s Charter defines the respective roles of the Board and 
Management. The Board Charter reflects the approach the Board has 
developed for providing strategic guidance for Infratil and the effective 
oversight of the Manager, and management of subsidiaries. 

The Board is committed to undertaking its role in accordance with 
internationally accepted best practice within the context of Infratil’s 
business. The Board is required to comply with the listing requirements of 
both the NZSX and ASX. Infratil’s corporate governance practices reflect 
and satisfy the NZX Corporate Governance Best practice Code (‘NZX 
Code’) and the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations (2nd Edition), (“ASX Principles”), other 
than in the following three areas: 

•	 Infratil has not established separate Director Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees. The Board considers that it is properly 
dealing with Directors nominations and remuneration at the full Board 
level; and 

•	 the majority of the Board is not independent, but comprises three 
independent directors and three non-independent directors as the 
Board considers all directors bring an independent judgement to bear 
on board decisions, has procedures for determining any related party 
interest, and has access to independent professional advice where this 
is required at Infratil’s expense; and

•	 The New Zealand Companies Act 1993 requires the disclosure of all 
remuneration payable over $100,000 per annum in $10,000 bands. As 
the company must comply with this obligation, it has chosen not to also 
make detailed disclosure of the remuneration of the five highest paid 
executives and the prescribed key management personnel information 
as is considered best practice under the ASX Principles.

The day to day management responsibilities of Infratil have been delegated 
to the Manager of Infratil. Infratil’s constitution and each of the charters and 
policies referred to in this Corporate Governance section are available on 
the corporate governance section of Infratil’s web site – www.infratil.co.nz.

Role of Management
All Board authority conferred on the Manager is delegated through the 
Chief Executive appointed by the Manager. The Board determines and 
agrees with the Manager specific goals and objectives, with a view to 
achieving the strategic goals of Infratil. Between Board meetings, the 
Chairman maintains an informal link between the Board and the Manager, 
and is kept informed by the Manager on all important matters. The 
Chairman is available to the Manager to provide counsel and advice where 
appropriate. Decisions of the Board are binding on the Manager. The 
Manager is accountable to the Board for the achievement of the strategic 
goals of Infratil. At each of its Board meetings, the Board receives reports 
from or through the Manager including financial, operational and other 
reports and proposals.

Board Membership
The number of Directors is determined by the Board, in accordance with 
Infratil’s constitution, to ensure it is large enough to provide a range of 
knowledge, views and experience relevant to Infratil’s business. The Board 
considers that the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive must be 
separate.

The Board currently comprises four non-executive Directors including the 
Chairman and two executive Directors, with three of these Directors’ being 
independent Directors (including the Chairman) and three non-independent 
Directors. During the year under review the Board met eight times with a 
full agenda. The composition of the Board, experience and Board tenure 
are set out in the Board biographical information section earlier in this 
Annual Report. Mr Morrison, Mr Saville and Mr Bogoievski have interests 
in entities which are substantial shareholders in Infratil, and in MCIM 
which has a Management Agreement with Infratil. 

In judging whether a Director is independent the Board has regard to 
the independence guidelines set out in the Board Charter, and the NZX 
and ASX Listing Rules. In accordance with those guidelines, immaterial 
dealings between a director and Infratil or its substantial shareholders 
would be ignored when determining whether or not they are independent 
(that is, dealings that could not reasonably be expected to influence him or 
her in making decisions as a director). Directors disclose all interests and 
any related party matters to the Board. 

In accordance with the Infratil’s constitution one third, or the number 
nearest to one third, of the Directors (excluding any Director appointed 
since the previous annual meeting) retire by rotation at each annual 
meeting. The Directors to retire are those who have been longest in office 
since their last election. Directors retiring by rotation may, if eligible, stand 
for re-election.

The Board considers new Director nominations, the induction of Directors 
and succession planning for Directors. The skills and capabilities of the 
Board are continually assessed through the Chairman and the Board, 
including potential gaps in skills and experience. Infratil has not developed 
a Board skills matrix due to the relatively small size of the Board and 
the Directors being well known to each other. Potential candidates are 
identified through Infratil, and its Board’s extensive network of business 
associates. Nominations for Directors are also made to Infratil, either 
through the Chairman, an existing Director, or through an Infratil officer, 
and considered first by the Chairman, and then discussed with the Board. 
Open and frank conversations occur in the consideration of new Directors 
including who may be available and the skills and capabilities sought to 
add value to Infratil’s businesses and strategic objectives. The key factors 
taken into account in assessing new Directors is the ability to add value 
to Infratil’s investments through particular industry or sector, financial or 
commercial experience relevant to Infratil’s strategic intent. Professional 
intermediaries are generally not used to identify and assess candidates. 

Nominations will be put to the Annual Meeting in accordance with Infratil’s 
constitution and the relevant legislation and listing rules. In selecting 
new Directors, the Board recognises the current skills and diversity of the 
existing Board, potential retirements of existing Board members, and the 
new skills a particular Director nominee may bring. The filling of casual 
vacancies must be approved by the Board and approved by shareholders at 
the next general meeting. 

Directors Remuneration
The Board determines the level of remuneration paid to Directors within 
the amounts approved by Shareholders (that is, from the approved 
collective pool). Non-executive and executive Directors are paid a basic 
fee as ordinary remuneration and are paid, as additional remuneration, 
an appropriate extra fee as Chairman of a Board Committee and an 
appropriate extra fee for any special service as a Director as approved by 
the Board. The Chairman is paid a level of fees appropriate to the office. 
Remuneration is reviewed annually by the Board and fees are reviewed 
against fee benchmarks in New Zealand and Australia and take into 
account the relative size and complexity of Infratil’s business.

In addition, Board members are entitled to be reimbursed for costs directly 
associated with the performance of their role as Directors, including travel 
costs, and the Chairman approves all Directors expenses, and the Chief 
Executive or Company Secretary approves the Chairman’s expenses.

Corporate Governance
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Directors’ Shareholding
Under the constitution Directors are not required to hold shares in Infratil. 
However, $10,000 of the Directors fees for non-executive Directors 
other than Duncan Saville are paid through the issue of shares to those 
Directors. All Directors, either hold shares themselves or shares are held 
by organisations to which they are associated parties, in recognition of 
the benefits of aligning Directors’ interests with those of shareholders. 
Directors will not normally make investments in listed infrastructure or 
utilities securities in areas targeted by Infratil.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Board has established an Audit and Risk Committee comprising of 
two independent Directors being Mr M Tume (Chairman of the Audit & 
Risk Committee) and Mr D A R Newman, and one non-independent 
Director, being Mr M Bogoievski, with attendances by appropriate MCIM 
representatives. 

The qualifications of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee are 
shown in the “Our Directors” section of this Annual Report. 

Whilst the number of independent Directors on the Audit and Risk 
Committee is one less than recommended by the ASX Principles, the Board 
considers that this is practical given the relatively small size of the Board. 
In addition, the Board considers that the inclusion of an executive Director 
on the Audit and Risk Committee provides balance and additional valuable 
insights to its processes.

The function of the Audit and Risk Committee is to oversee financial 
reporting, accounting policies, financial management, internal control 
systems, risk management system, systems for protecting assets and 
compliance.  The Committee keeps under review the scope and results 
of audit work, its cost effectiveness and performance, independence and 
objectivity of the auditors.  It also reviews the financial statements and 
the announcement to the New Zealand Exchange and Australian Stock 
Exchange of financial results. The Audit and Risk Committee Charter is 
available on the Infratil website. During the year under review the Audit 
and Risk Committee met five times with a full agenda.

Attendances at Audit & Risk Committee meetings were as follows:

M Tume D Newman M Bogoievski
Number of meetings 
attended 5 5 4

The Audit and Risk Committee receives regular reports from the Manager 
including reports on financial and business performance, risk management, 
financial derivatives exposures and accounting and internal control 
matters.

Internal Financial Control
The Board has overall responsibility for Infratil’s system of internal financial 
control. The Directors have established procedures and policies that are 
designed to provide effective internal financial control. Annual budgets, 
forecasts and reports on the strategic direction of Infratil are prepared 
regularly and reviewed and agreed by the Board. Financial and business 
performance reports are prepared monthly and reviewed by the Board 
throughout the year to monitor performance against financial and non-
financial targets and strategic objectives.

Risk Management and Compliance
The Audit and Risk Committee also has a function of reviewing 
management practices in relation to identification and management of 
significant business risk areas and regulatory compliance. Formal systems 
have been introduced for regular reporting to the Board on business risk, 
including impacts and mitigation strategies and compliance matters. 

The Manager (Infratil Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer) is 
required to, and has confirmed to the Audit and Risk Committee and Board 
in writing that:

•	 financial records have been properly maintained and the company’s 
financial statements present a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, of the Company’s financial condition, and operating results 
are in accordance with relevant accounting standards;

•	 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New 
Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) and comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and other 
applicable financial reporting standards for profit-oriented entities; and

•	 That appropriate and effective internal controls and risk management 
practices are in place to safeguard and protect Infratil’s assets and 
to identify, assess, monitor and manage risk, and identify material 
changes to Infratil’s risk profile. 

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
Infratil has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance covering 
Directors acting on behalf of Infratil. Cover is for damages, judgements, 
fines, penalties, legal costs, awarded and defence costs arising from 
wrongful acts committed while acting for Infratil. The types of acts that 
are not covered are dishonest, fraudulent, malicious acts, or omissions, 
wilful breach of statute or regulations, or duty to Infratil, improper use of 
information to the detriment of Infratil or breach of professional duty.

Independent Professional Advice
With the approval of the Chairman, Directors are entitled to seek 
independent professional advice on any aspect of the Directors’ duties, at 
Infratil’s expense.

Going Concern
After reviewing the current results and detailed forecasts, taking 
into account available credit facilities and making further enquires 
as considered appropriate, the Directors are satisfied that Infratil has 
adequate resources to enable it to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future. For this reason, the Directors believe it is appropriate to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Board Performance
The Board as a whole and individual Directors are subject to a performance 
appraisal from time to time using a corporate governance best practice 
model. The Chairman also initiates a review with each Director and a 
collective review of Board performance. Appropriate strategies for personal 
and collective improvement are then agreed and actioned. Reviews have 
been undertaken consistent with the process described above.

Disclosure and Shareholder and Other Stakeholder 
Communications 
Infratil is committed to promoting investor confidence by providing 
forthright, timely, accurate, complete and equal access to information, and 
to providing comprehensive continuous disclosure to shareholders and 
other stakeholders, in compliance with the NZSX/NZDX and ASX Listing 
Rules. All shareholder communications and market releases are subject to 
review by the Manager (including Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer 
and Legal counsel), and information is only released after proper review 
and reasonable inquiry. Full year and half year results releases are also 
approved by the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board.

Infratil aims to communicate effectively, give ready access to balanced 
and understandable information about Infratil and corporate proposals and 
make it easy to participate in general meetings. Infratil seeks to ensure 
its shareholders are appropriately informed on its operations and results, 
with the delivery of timely and focused communication, and the holding 
of shareholder meetings in a manner conducive to achieving shareholder 
participation. To ensure shareholders and other stakeholders have access 
to relevant information Infratil: 

• 	 holds regular investor road shows, and sends to interested parties the 
dates and invitations to attend;

• 	 sends shareholders and bond holders its annual and half year review 
which is a summary of Infratil’s operating and financial performance for 
the relevant period; 
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• 	 ensures its website contains media releases, full year and half year 
financial information, current and past annual reports, dividend 
histories, notices of meeting, details of Directors and The Manager, a 
list of shareholders’ frequently asked questions and other information 
about Infratil; 

• 	 makes available printed half year and annual reports and encourages 
shareholders to access these documents on the website and to receive 
advice of their availability by email; 

• 	 publishes press releases on issues/events that may have material 
information content that could impact on the price of its traded 
securities and sends email updates to interested stakeholders;

• 	 Webcasts its half year and full year results so that a wide group 
of interested parties can review and participate in discussions on 
performance, and advises interested parties of the dates and how to 
participate in the webcast; and

• 	 provides additional explanatory memoranda where circumstances 
require, such as explanations of dividend changes and other 
explanatory memoranda as may be required by law. 

Shareholder meetings are generally held in a location and at a time which 
is intended to maximise participation by shareholders. Meetings are 
typically alternated between Wellington and Auckland. Full participation 
of shareholders at the annual meeting is encouraged to ensure a high 
level of accountability and identification with Infratil’s strategies and 
goals. Shareholders have the opportunity to submit questions prior to each 
meeting and the Manager, senior management of subsidiary companies 
and auditors are present to assist in and provide answers to questions 
raised by shareholders. There is also an opportunity for informal discussion 
with Directors, the Manager and senior management for a period after the 
meeting concludes.

Infratil supports the efforts of the New Zealand Shareholders’ Association 
(NZSA) to raise the quality of relations between public companies and their 
shareholders. Shareholders wishing to learn more about the NZSA can 
find information on the association’s website (http://www.nzshareholders.
co.nz). While Infratil supports the general aims and objectives of the NZSA, 
its specific actions and views are not necessarily endorsed by Infratil, or 
representative of Infratil’s view.

Share Trading Policy
Infratil has a share trading policy applicable to Directors, the Manager, 
officers and all employees, which can be found on Infratil’s website. The 
policy includes a fundamental prohibition on insider trading and obligations 
of confidentiality when dealing with material information. The policy 
applies to ordinary shares and debt securities issued by Infratil.

Code of Ethics
Infratil has always required the highest standards of honesty and integrity 
from its Directors, Manager and employees. This commitment is reflected 
in Infratil’s ethics policy and code of conduct, which can be found on 
Infratil’s website. The ethics policy and code of conduct recognises 
Infratil’s legal and other obligations to all legitimate stakeholders. The 
policy applies to Directors, the Manager and all employees.

The policy sets the ethical and behavioural standards and professional 
conduct for which Directors, the Manager and employees of Infratil and its 
subsidiaries (Infratil People) are expected to conduct their work life. Failure 
to follow the standards provided in this Code will result in the appropriate 
staff or other performance management practices being invoked and may 
lead to disciplinary action including dismissal.

Remuneration 
Infratil’s senior management (excluding staff of MCIM as the Manager) is 
remunerated with a mix of:

• 	 Base salary and benefits;

• 	 Short term performance incentives; and

• 	 Long term performance incentives.

The determination of fixed remuneration is based on responsibilities, 
individual performance and experience, and market data. At-risk/variable 
remuneration comprises short term incentives and, for senior and key 
employees, long-term incentives. Infratil Executives are employed by 
subsidiary companies, and executive remuneration policies are determined 
and approved by the subsidiary company boards within high level principles 
established by the Infratil Board. Incentives are directly related to the 
performance area controlled by the executive, while longer-term incentives 
are intended to align with shareholder interests. Remuneration of 
executives of subsidiary companies is overseen by non-executive directors 
of those subsidiary companies. 

Performance reviews of executive are carried out regularly and at least 
annually, and involve feedback by the Board on executive performance of 
the Manager, and subsidiary Directors’ review of subsidiary company’s 
Chief Executive and executive’s performance. Performance reviews include 
the setting of goals and objectives set at the beginning of the year, and 
reviewing the achievement of those goals and objectives at the end of 
the year. Performance measures will normally include both qualitative 
and quantitative measures. Performance evaluations have taken place in 
accordance with this process during the reporting year.

Short term incentives
In the Infratil Group, variable remuneration recognizes and rewards high-
performing individuals whose contribution supports business goals and 
objectives, and who meet their individual goals agreed with the Board or 
their Chief executive (as appropriate).

Short term incentives (STIs) comprise cash payments based on performance 
measured against key performance indicators (KPIs). Different levels of 
incentives are determined reflecting the nature of the roles in Infratil. 
KPIs may comprise entity or individual business, team and individual 
targets. These targets are designed to create goals that will support an 
achievement and performance-oriented culture. The STI programme is 
designed to differentiate reward, for exceptional, outstanding and good 
performance.

Long term incentives
The principal objective of long term incentives is to align executives’ 
performance with shareholder interests and provide equity-based 
incentives that help retain valuable employees. Long term incentive 
arrangements vary within Infratil depending on circumstances and 
jurisdiction, and include both cash payments based on performance and 
value add over a period (generally three years), or rights to participate 
in the Infratil Executive Share Scheme, which is outlined in the Financial 
Statements. In determining the allocation of shares under the Executive 
Share Scheme, the Infratil Board considers individual participants’ 
performance in the preceding financial year and potential in future years. 
Currently participation in the LTI Scheme is limited to around 20 senior and 
key employees of Infratil. These employees are approved by the Infratil 
Board after consideration of a recommendation from subsidiary boards. 
TrustPower, an Infratil NZX listed non-wholly owned subsidiary, has issued 
share options to certain employees as part of its long term incentives. The 
details of this scheme are disclosed in TrustPower’s Annual Report.

MCIM Management Fees
As noted earlier, Infratil is managed by MCIM, under a Management 
Agreement. The Management Agreement sets out the terms of the services 
provided by the Manager and the basis of fees, including base fees and 
incentive fees. Details of fees paid to the Manager are fully disclosed in 
the financial statements, including:

•	 Note 34 – components of the Management Fee;

•	 Note 33 – �related party disclosures in respect of MCIM and  
fees paid to MCIM; and 

•	 In the statutory information section, the interests of Directors 
associated with MCIM, and Director’s fees.
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Directors’ Holding Office
The Company’s Directors are: 

DAR Newman (Chairman); 

HRL Morrison;

DP Saville; 

HJD Rolleston; 

M Tume;

M Bogoievski; and

A Muh (alternate to DP Saville). 

The Company’s directors who are also directors of Infratil subsidiary 
companies are listed under the Subsidiary Company Directors section.

The Company considers that Messrs DAR Newman, HJD Rolleston and  
M Tume are Independent Directors in terms of the New Zealand Exchange 
Listing Rules and the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd edition), and that 
Messrs HRL Morrison, DP Saville, M Bogoievski and A Muh, are not 
Independent Directors.

Entries in the Interest Register 
Statement of Directors’ Interests (as at 31 March 2011):

The information below is given pursuant to the New Zealand Exchange 
Listing Rules.

Beneficial 
interests

  2011

Non beneficial 
interests

2011

Shares
H R L Morrison 37,335,221 13,536,547
A Muh 76,843 -
D A R Newman 57,231 -
H J D Rolleston 25,909 -
D P Saville 8,772 139,387,026
M Tume 21,311 -
M Bogoievski - -

Warrants (IFTWC)
H R L Morrison 3,157,172 1,111,837
A Muh 304 -
D A R Newman 7,096 -
H J D Rolleston 800 -
D P Saville 877 11,389,690
M Tume - -
M Bogoievski - -

Dealing in Securities:
The following table shows transactions recorded in respect of those 
securities during the period from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011:

Director 
No of securities 

Bought/(sold)
Cost/(Proceeds)

$

H R L Morrison – Beneficial    
Conversion of partly paid shares to 
ordinary shares 21 May 2010 4,938,981 5,531,659

H R L Morrison – Non beneficial    
Conversion of partly paid shares to 
ordinary shares 21 May 2010 1,335,739 1,496,028

A Muh    
Acquisition of ordinary shares  
23 June 2010 7,225 11,728
Acquisition of ordinary shares  
7 April 2010 13,497 23,532

D A R Newman    
Disposal of ordinary shares  
18 November 2010 (30,000) (56,412)
Acquisition of ordinary shares  
23 June 2010 1,952 3,169
Conversion of partly paid shares to 
ordinary shares 21 May 2010 6,100 6,832

H J D Rolleston    
Acquisition of ordinary shares  
23 June 2010 6,160 9,999

D P Saville – Non beneficial    
Conversion of partly paid shares to 
ordinary shares 21 May 2010 21,365,287 23,929,121
Sale of partly paid shares  
18 May 2010 (225,000) (120,888)
Sale of ordinary shares  
29 September 2010 (6,000,000) (10,620,000)
Sale of ordinary shares  
6 October 2010 (2,000,000) (3,560,000)

M Tume    
Acquisition of ordinary shares  
23 June 2010 6,160 9,999

Use of Company Information:
During the year the Board has received no notices from any Director of 
the Company or its subsidiaries requesting to use company information 
received in their capacity as a Director, which would not otherwise have 
been available to them.
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Directors’ Relevant Interests:
The following are relevant interests of the Company’s Directors (not 
otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report) as at 31 March 2011:

•	 H R L Morrison

Chairman of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited and subsidiary 
companies
Director of Hettinger Nominees Limited
Director of Auckland International Airport Limited
Director of Fisher Funds Management Limited

•	 D A R Newman
Member of the Board of the Guardians of the New Zealand 
Superannuation Fund
Chairman of Loyalty New Zealand Limited

•	 D P Saville
Director of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited
Director of Ingot Capital Management Pty Limited

•	 H J D Rolleston
Director of Property for Industry Limited
Director of Mercer Industries Limited
Director of SKY Television Network Limited
Chairman of Simmonds Lumber Pty Limited
Chairman of ANZCRO Pty Limited
Chairman of Craigpine Timber Limited
Chairman of Matrix Security Group Ltd.
Director of Asset Management Limited
Director of Stray Limited
Director of Media Metro Limited
Chairman of Fraser Mcandrew Ryan
Chairman of Murray & Co. Limited
Chairman of Murray & Company Wealth Management Ltd
Chairman of FDJ Murray & Company Holdings Ltd
Shareholder – Dairy Holdings Limited
Director of Save a Watt Limited
Director and shareholder McRaes Engineering Limited 

•	 M Tume
Director of Yeo Family Trustee Limited
Director of Long Board Limited
Director of Ascend Capital Limited
Director of Welltest Holdings Limited 
Member of the Board of the Guardians of New Zealand Superannuation Fund
Director of New Zealand Refining Company Ltd
Director of New Zealand Railways Corporation Limited

•	 M Bogoievski
Director of Zig Zag Farm Limited
Director of Auckland International Airport Limited  
– alternate to HRL Morrison
Director of Fisher Funds Management Limited  
– alternate to HRL Morrison
Chairman of Aotea Energy Holdings Limited
Director of Aotea Energy Holdings No 2 Limited
Director of Aotea Energy Limited
Director of Greenstone Energy Holdings Limited 
Director of Greenstone Energy Finance Limited
Director of Z Energy Limited
Chief Executive of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited
Director of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Private Markets

•	 A Muh (alternate to Duncan Saville)
Executive of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited
Director of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Capital Management Limited
Director of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Capital Management (Int) Limited
Director of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Asia Limited
Director of Clearpool Capital Holdings Limited
Director of Utilico Emerging Markets Limited

Remuneration of Directors:
Directors’ remuneration in respect of the year ended 31 March 2011 paid 
by the Company was as follows:

 
 

Parent
2011 (NZD)

Parent
2010 (NZD)

D A R Newman 146,385 140,000

H R L Morrison 73,193 70,000

D P Saville 73,193 70,000

H J D Rolleston 73,193 70,000

A Muh 17,500 70,000

M Tume 89,151 85,000

M Bogoievski 93,110 n/a

Directors fees exclude GST where appropriate.

Directors’ Remuneration Paid by Subsidiary 
Companies:
Directors’ remuneration for the Company’s directors paid by subsidiary 
companies was as follows:

Infratil Director 2011 2010

DAR Newman – Wellington 
International Airport Limited NZD 70,800 NZD 68,700
DAR Newman – Infratil Airports 
Europe Limited GBP 30,000 GBP 30,000
HRL Morrison – Infratil Airports 
Europe Limited GBP 32,292 GBP 37,500

HRL Morrison – TrustPower Limited NZD 31,250 NZD 65,000
M Tume – Lumo Energy Australia 
Pty Limited AUD 55,000 -
M Tume – Infratil Energy Australia 
Pty Limited AUD 10,000 -

M Bogoievski – TrustPower Limited NZD 43,750 -
M Bogoievski – Infratil Energy 
Australia Pty Limited AUD 4,167 AUD 2,917
M Bogoievski – Lumo Energy 
Australia Pty Limited AUD 22,917 AUD 23,333

Directors fees exclude GST or VAT where appropriate.

No other benefits have been provided by the Company or its subsidiaries 
to a Director for services as a Director or in any other capacity, other than 
as disclosed in the related party note to the financial statements, or in the 
ordinary course of business. No loans have been made by the Company or 
its subsidiaries to a Infratil Director nor has the Company or subsidiaries 
guaranteed any debts incurred by a Director.
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Directors of Infratil Limited Subsidiary Companies 
Subsidiary Company Director of Subsidiary

Infratil Investments Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil Securities Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil Gas Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil 1998 Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

NZ Airports Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil Australia Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil Finance Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil UK Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil Ventures Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil Europe Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Swift Transport Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil Energy Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil Energy NZ Limited K Baker, M Bogoievski and P Ridley- Smith (resigned 6 May 2011)

Snapper Services Limited HRL Morrison (appointed - 4 April 2011) and K Waddell. Resigned - K Baker (30 September 2010) and  
P Ridley-Smith (6 May 2011)

Infratil No. 1 Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil Infrastructure Property Limited HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski, P Coman, L Petagna

Infratil Outdoor Media Limited M Bogoievski. Resigned - P Ridley-Smith (6 May 2011)

Infratil Insurance Co Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

Infratil No. 5 Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, M Bogoievski

New Zealand Bus Finance Limited K Baker, T Brown, L Petagna and K Tempest

New Zealand Bus Limited K Baker, T Brown, L Petagna and K Tempest

Transportation Auckland Corporation Limited Z Fulljames (appointed - 25 November 2010), R Ockelford (appointed - 25 November 2010) and S Thorne. 
Resigned - B Emson (29 April 2011) and I Turner (24 August 2010).

Auckland Integrated Ticketing Limited W Dalbeth, D Hudson, C Inwards, A Ritchie and S Thorne. Resigned - I Turner (24 August 2010).

Wellington City Transport Limited Z Fulljames (appointed - 25 November 2010), R Ockelford (appointed - 25 November 2010) and S Thorne. 
Resigned - B Emson (29 April 2011) and I Turner (24 August 2010).

North City Bus Limited Z Fulljames (appointed - 25 November 2010), R Ockelford (appointed - 25 November 2010) and S Thorne. 
Resigned - B Emson (29 April 2011) and I Turner (24 August 2010).

Cityline (NZ) Limited Z Fulljames (appointed - 25 November 2010), R Ockelford (appointed - 25 November 2010) and S Thorne. 
Resigned - B Emson (29 April 2011) and I Turner (24 August 2010).

Wellington Integrated Ticketing Limited T Martin and S Thorne (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned - I Turner (24 August 2010).

Stagecoach New Zealand Limited T Brown

Wellington International Airport Limited DAR Newman, T Brown, P Coman (appointed 18 May 2011), S Fitzgerald, I McKinnon (appointed  
11 November 2010) and K Sutton. Resigned - K Prendergast (11 November 2010), K Baker (18 May 2011).

i-site Limited A Scotland, S Fitzgerald (appointed 30 June 2010) and P Coman (appointed 25 May 2011).  
Resigned - M Basher (19 July 2010) and P Ridley-Smith (9 May 2011).

North West Auckland Airport Limited M Bogoievski, T Brown, S Fitzgerald and S Draper.

Infratil Airports Europe Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, P Walker, S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane and T Wilson (appointed - 1 April 2011).  
Resigned – P Ridley-Smith (15 April 2011).

Glasgow Prestwick Airport Limited HRL Morrison, S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane and T Wilson (appointed - 1 April 2011).  
Resigned – P Ridley-Smith (15 April 2011).

Prestwick Airport Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, P Walker, S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane and T Wilson (appointed - 1 April 2011).  
Resigned – P Ridley-Smith (15 April 2011).

Infratil Kent Facilities Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane and T Wilson (appointed - 1 April 2011).   
Resigned - P Ridley-Smith (15 April 2011)

Infratil Kent Airport Limited DAR Newman, HRL Morrison, S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane and T Wilson (appointed - 1 April 2011).   
Resigned - P Ridley-Smith (15 April 2011)

PIK MRO Limited S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane and T Wilson (appointed - 1 April 2011).

The Airport Driving Range Company Limited S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane and T Wilson (appointed - 1 April 2011).
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Subsidiary Company Director of Subsidiary

Prestwick Airport Infrastructure Limited I Cochrane, G Sweenie and T Wilson (appointed 1 April 2011). Resigned - C Chandler (6 May 2010).

Prestwick Airport Property Limited G Sweenie, I Cochrane (appointed 15 July 2010) and T Wilson (appointed 1 April 2011).   
Resigned - C Chandler (6 May 2010).

Prestwick Aviation Holdings Limited S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane (appointed 15 July 2010) and T Wilson (appointed 1 April 2011).   
Resigned - C Chandler (6 May 2010).

Great Holidays Limited S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane (appointed 15 July 2010) and T Wilson (appointed 1 April 2011).   
Resigned - C Chandler (6 May 2010).

Runaway Realisations Limited S Fitzgerald, I Cochrane (appointed 15 July 2010) and T Wilson (appointed 1 April 2011).   
Resigned - C Chandler (6 May 2010).

TrustPower Limited R Aitken (appointed 14 May 2010), M Bogoievski, M Cooney, B Harker, S Knowles, HRL Morrison 
(alternate director for M Bogoievski), G Swier. Resigned – Sir Ron Carter (30 July 2010).

Cobb Power Limited M Cooney, V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

Tararua Wind Power Limited M Cooney, V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

TrustPower Metering Limited B Harker, V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

Esk Hydro Power Limited V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned M Kedian (30 March 2011).

Bay Energy Limited V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

Paehinahina Mourea Geothermal Limited V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Limited G Swier, V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd G Swier, V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

Taheke Geothermal Limited V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Ltd M Cooney, V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Limited G Swier, V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

TrustPower Insurance Limited M Cooney, V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

TrustPower Oamaru Limited V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

TrustPower Renewable Investments Pty Limited G Swier, V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

Waikaremoana Power Limited V Hawksworth (appointed 24 August 2010). Resigned T Nikora (26 January 2011), R Manuel (17 January 
2011), C O’Hara (24 August 2010).

Te Maunga Market Service Pty Ltd  
(incorporated 7 December 2010)

G Swier (appointed 7 December 2010), V Hawksworth (appointed 7 December 2010).

Infratil Energy Australia Pty Limited B Harker, D Flukes, K Baker, R Crawford, M Tume (appointed 5 May 2010),  
V Busby (appointed 1 September 2010). Resigned - M Bogoievski (24 June 2010).

Western Energy Pty Limited R Jones, D Flukes, K Cao, P Forsyth. 

Lumo Energy Australia Pty Limited  
(formerly Victoria Electricity Pty Limited) 

B Harker, V Busby, K Baker, S Draper, M Tume (appointed 5 May 2010), R Crawford.  
Resigned - M Bogoievski (24 June 2010).  

Lumo Energy Telecommunications Pty Ltd  
(formerly VE Telecommunications Pty Ltd)

S Draper, P Forsyth. 

Direct Connect Australia Pty Limited S Draper, P Forsyth. 

Lumo Energy (QLD) Pty Ltd  
(formerly Queensland Electricity Pty Ltd)

S Draper, P Forsyth. 

Lumo Energy (NSW) Pty Ltd  
(formerly New South Wales Electricity Pty Ltd)

S Draper, P Forsyth. 

Lumo Generation NSW Pty Limited  
(incorporated 4 November 2010)

D Flukes (appointed 4 November 2010) and P Forsyth (appointed 4 November 2010).

Lumo Energy (SA) Pty Ltd  
(formerly South Australia Electricity Pty Ltd)

S Draper, P Forsyth. 

Perth Energy Pty Limited P  Forsyth, D Flukes, R Jones, K Cao, V Busby (alternate director).

WA Power Exchange Pty Limited R Jones, K Cao.

Infratil Energy Group Pty Limited P Forsyth.

Emagy Pty Limited D Flukes, P Forsyth.

Western Energy Holdings Pty Limited R Jones, D Flukes, K Cao, P Forsyth. 

Connection Media Pty Limited  
(incorporated 19 May 2011)

D Flukes, P Forsyth.

Infratil Power Pty Limited  
(incorporated 19 May 2011)

D Flukes, P Forsyth.
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Directors Fees Paid by Infratil Subsidiary Companies (not otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report):
Subsidiary Company Director of Subsidiary Company Currency Amount

Wellington International Airport Limited Kevin Baker NZD 40,583
Wellington International Airport Limited Tim Brown NZD 42,000
Wellington International Airport Limited Keith Sutton NZD 45,500
Wellington International Airport Limited Kerry Prendergast NZD 21,875
Wellington International Airport Limited Ian McKinnon NZD 16,792
Infratil Airports Europe Limited Paul Ridley-Smith GBP 25,000
Infratil Airports Europe Limited Phil Walker GBP 25,000
NZ Bus Limited Kevin Baker NZD 37,500
NZ Bus Limited Lib Petagna NZD 77,500
NZ Bus Limited Tim Brown NZD 37,500
NZ Bus Limited Keith Tempest NZD 37,500
Lumo Energy Australia Pty Limited Bruce Harker AUD 90,000
Lumo Energy Australia Pty Limited Kevin Baker AUD 55,000
Lumo Energy Australia Pty Limited Roger Crawford AUD 55,000
Lumo Energy Australia Pty Limited Vaughan Busby AUD 32,083
Infratil Energy Australia Pty Limited Bruce Harker AUD 35,000
Infratil Energy Australia Pty Limited Kevin Baker AUD 10,000
Infratil Energy Australia Pty Limited Roger Crawford AUD 10,000
Infratil Energy Australia Pty Limited Vaughan Busby AUD 5,833
Snapper Services Limited Paul Ridley-Smith NZD 50,000
Snapper Services Limited Kevin Baker NZD 15,000
Snapper Services Limited Kerry Waddell NZD 35,000
TrustPower Limited Bruce Harker NZD 145,000
TrustPower Limited Ronald Carter  NZD 27,083
TrustPower Limited Michael Cooney NZD 75,000
TrustPower Limited Geoffrey Swier NZD 140,749
TrustPower Limited Sam Knowles NZD 85,000
TrustPower Limited Richard Aitken NZD 64,974
i-site Limited Andrea Scotland NZD 18,000
Perth Energy Pty Limited Darryl Flukes AUD 90,000
Perth Energy Pty Limited Paul Forsyth AUD 45,000
Perth Energy Pty Limited Rodney Jones AUD 45,000
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In July 2010, the Takeovers Panel granted the Takeovers Code (Infratil 
Limited) Exemption Notice 2010 (Notice). The Notice permits certain 
Infratil shareholders to increase their shareholdings in Infratil upon 
exercise of the IFTWC series of warrants (IFTWC Warrants) they hold and 
also as a result of Infratil buying back up to 50,000,000 of its own shares 
(Buyback Programme). 

As at 24 May 2011, Infratil had not bought back any shares pursuant to the 
Buyback Programme, which is ongoing.  Infratil does not intend to buyback 
shares on the ASX under the Buyback Programme.  

The Notice requires that this Annual Report provide the following 
information:

(1)	 A summary of the terms of the IFTWC Warrants:

Each IFTWC Warrant entitles the holder upon payment of the exercise 
price of $4.15 on or prior to 29 June 2012 to be issued with one 
fully paid ordinary share in Infratil. IFTWC Warrants themselves do 
not confer voting rights and their full and current terms of issue are 
available on request from Infratil (email: info@infratil.com)

(2)	 A summary of the terms and conditions of the exemptions 
granted under the Notice:

The Notice permits the associated shareholders (Associated 
Shareholders), who are introduced below to increase their voting 
control in Infratil (essentially their shareholding) through the exercise 
of their IFTWC Warrants and/or as a result of the Buyback Programme 
provided that an extensive list of conditions are complied with. In 
summary, the key conditions were and are:

(a)	 The Buyback Programme is approved by an ordinary resolution of 
shareholders of Infratil and none of the Associated Shareholders 
or their associates vote in favour of the resolution (obtained on 
11 August 2010);

(b)	 The Notice of Meeting for that shareholder approval dated 5 July 
2010 (Notice of Meeting) contained or stated full particulars 
of the Buyback Programme and IFTWC Warrants held by the 
Associated Shareholders. This included extensive and detailed 
information about the maximum level of voting control that 
the Associated Shareholders might achieve (individually and 
in aggregate) as a result of the Buyback Programme and the 
Associated Shareholders fully exercising all the IFTWC Warrants 
that they held, including in circumstances where no other IFTWC 
Warrantholders exercise any of their IFTWC Warrants;

(c)	 That until 31 August 2013, there is no increase to any of the 
Associated Shareholders’ voting control other than as a result of 
an allotment resulting from the exercise of the IFTWC Warrants 
or through the Buyback Programme;

(d)	 Every annual report issued by Infratil prior to 31 August 2013 
contains the disclosures set out in this section;

(e)	 None of the Associated Shareholders are subject to a change in 
control (as applicable);

(f)	 The maximum individual control percentages that were disclosed 
for the Associated Shareholders in the Notice of Meeting are not 
exceeded.

	 A comprehensive list of all the conditions are set out in the 
Notice, which is available on request from Infratil (email: info@
Infratil.com) or can be viewed and downloaded from www.
takeovers.govt.nz. A copy of the Notice of Meeting is also 
available on request from Infratil.

(3)	 A statement, as at 31 March 2011, of the number of voting securities 
allotted to each Associated Shareholder as a result of the exercise of 
the warrants held by them (whether the voting securities were allotted 
during the financial year or an earlier financial year):

Nil.

(4)	 A statement, as at 31 March 2011, of the total percentage of voting 
rights on issue held or controlled by each Associated Shareholder and 
that Associated Shareholder’s associates (calculated as though the 
other Associated Shareholders were not their associates):

Utilico Investments Limited 18.6%

H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited 4.3%

Hugh Richmond Lloyd Morrison and 
John Bentley Morrison as trustees of the 
H.R.L. Morrison Family Trust 4.0%

JML Trustee Company Limited as trustee of the 
JML Trust 1.12%

Duncan Paul Saville 0.0014%
Total Associated Shareholders 28.0%

(5)	 A statement, as at 31 March 2011, of the maximum percentage of 
total voting rights that could be held or controlled by each Associated 
Shareholder and that Associated Shareholder’s associates as a result 
of the allotment of voting securities to the Associated Shareholders 
on the exercise of all warrants held by them; and Infratil Limited 
acquiring the maximum number of voting securities under the buyback:

Utilico Investments Limited 21.4%

H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited 5.0%

Hugh Richmond Lloyd Morrison and  
John Bentley Morrison as trustees of the  
H.R.L. Morrison Family Trust 4.7%

JML Trustee Company Limited as trustee of the 
JML Trust 1.29%

Duncan Paul Saville 0.0017%
Total Associated Shareholders 32.4%

As at 24 May 2011, the total percentage of voting rights on issue held 
or controlled by each Associated Shareholder and that Associated 
Shareholder’s associates (calculated as though the other Associated 
Shareholders were not their associates) was as follows:

Utilico Investments Limited 18.6%
H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited 4.3%
Hugh Richmond Lloyd Morrison and 
John Bentley Morrison as trustees of the 
H.R.L. Morrison Family Trust 4.0%
JML Trustee Company Limited as trustee of the 
JML Trust 1.12%
Duncan Paul Saville 0.0014%
Total Associated Shareholders 28.0%

Takeovers Code Matters and Buyback Programme
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Employee remuneration
During the year ended 31 March 2011 the following number of employees 
of Infratil and its subsidiaries received remuneration of at least $100,000.

Number of 
employees

Remuneration band 2011
$100,000 to $110,000 46
$110,001 to $120,000 34
$120,001 to $130,000 19
$130,001 to $140,000 23
$140,001 to $150,000 20
$150,001 to $160,000 13
$160,001 to $170,000 7
$170,001 to $180,000 11
$180,001 to $190,000 6
$190,001 to $200,000 3
$200,001 to $210,000 5
$210,001 to $220,000 4
$220,001 to $230,000 3
$230,001 to $240,000 4
$240,001 to $250,000 1
$250,001 to $260,000 1
$260,001 to $270,000 4
$270,001 to $280,000 4
$280,001 to $290,000 3
$290,001 to $300,000 1
$300,001 to $310,000 2
$310,001 to $320,000 4
$320,001 to $330,000 2
$330,001 to $340,000 2
$340,001 to $350,000 1
$410,001 to $420,000 1
$420,001 to $430,000 1
$430,001 to $440,000 1
$460,001 to $470,000 1
$530,001 to $540,000 1
$540,001 to $550,000 2
$560,001 to $570,000 1
$570,001 to $580,000 1
$590,001 to $600,000 1
$790,001 to $800,000 1
$880,001 to $890,000 1
$1,150,001 to $1,160,000 1*

* Includes fees paid as a Director of a subsidiary company.

Donations
The Company made donations of $2,000 during the year ended  
31 March 2011 (2010 $nil).

Auditors
It is proposed that KPMG will be automatically reappointed at the annual 
meeting pursuant to section 200(1) of the Companies Act 1993.

New Zealand Exchange Waivers
As at and for the year ended 31 March 2011, the Company had the 
following waivers from the NZSX Listing Rules:

1.	 A waiver from Listing Rule 7.3.2 (b) that permitted the issue of 
Convertible Infrastructure Bonds up until 30 August 2010.       

	 A waiver from Listing Rule 7.3.2 (b) that permits the issue of 
Convertible Infrastructure Bonds up until 6pm on 15 August 2011.

2.	 A waiver from Listing Rule 9.2.1 that permitted the Company to acquire 
the shares in Shell New Zealand Holdings Limited in a joint venture 
with a related party, New Zealand Superannuation Fund.

3.	 A waiver from Listing Rule 7.11.1 that permits shares issued under the 
Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan to be alloted at the same time 
as it pays the corresponding cash dividend.

4.	 A waiver from Listing Rule 5.2.3 waiving the spread requirements for 
the 2016 series bond issue until the final issue date.

5.	 A waiver from Listing Rule 5.2.3 waiving the spread requirements for 
the 2017 series bond issue until the final issue date.

The company has used the cash and assets in a form readily convertible to 
cash that it had at the time of admission to the ASX in a way consistent 
with its business objectives.

Credit rating 
The Company does not have a credit rating.  Wellington International 
Airport Limited has a credit rating of BBB+/Stable/A-2 credit.

Shareholder information
Substantial Security Holders:

The following information is pursuant to Section 35(f) of the Securities 
Markets Act 1988.

According to notices given under the Securities Markets Act 1988, the 
following persons were substantial security holders in the Company as at 
24 May 2011.

Ordinary shares Securities %

Utilico Investments Limited  113,038,296 18.6%
H.R.L. Morrison Family Trust*  50,871,768 8.4%
Accident Compensation 
Corporation**  44,250,910 7.3%
AMP Capital Investors  
(New Zealand) Limited  42,013,037 6.9%

* The shareholding declared in the Substantial Security Holder Notice 
given on 24 December 2003 was 17,454,202 shares which represented 
9.3% of shares on issue at that date.

** The shareholding declared in the Substantial Security Holder Notice 
given on 1 April 2010 was 43,790,780 shares which represented 7.7% of 
shares on issue at that date.

The total number of voting securities of the Company on issue as at 24 
May 2011 were 606,584,561 fully paid ordinary shares (including Infratil 
Treasury stock held by the Company of 3,798,539).

New Zealand Exchange and Statutory Information
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Twenty Largest Shareholders as at 24 May 2011
National Nominees New Zealand Limited  134,619,698 

Accident Compensation Corporation  44,250,910 

H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited  26,348,730 

Hettinger Nominees Limited  24,523,038 

HSBC Nominees (New Zealand) Limited  22,477,273 

Custodial Services Limited  20,707,936 

New Zealand Superannuation Fund Nominees 
Limited  19,552,774 

AMP Investment Strategic Equity Growth Trust Fund  18,740,495 

TEA Custodians Limited  11,428,367 

Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited  9,423,902 

Bell Investment A/C  7,047,422 

NZGT Nominees Ltd AIF Equity Fund A/C  6,826,305 

JML Capital Limited  6,765,503 

Citibank Nominees (NZ) Limited  5,821,885 

NZ Guardian Trust Investment Nominees Limited  5,121,504 

FNZ Custodians Limited  4,959,424 

Premier Nominees Limited  4,845,598 

Norwich Union Life Insurance (NZ) Limited  4,125,800 

Infratil Limited (Treasury Stock)  3,798,539 

Guardian Trust Investment Nominees (RWT) Limited  3,641,472 

New Zealand Depository Nominee Limited  3,314,601 

In the above table, the shareholding of New Zealand Central Securities 
Depositary Limited (NZCSD) has been re-allocated to the applicable 
members of NZCSD.

Spread of Shareholders as at 24 May 2011

Number of shares
Number of 

holders
Total shares 

held %

1 - 1,000  1,543  934,357 0%

1,001 - 5,000  5,886  17,031,057 3%

5,001 - 10,000  3,321  24,433,410 4%

10,001 - 50,000  4,322  90,724,137 15%

50,001 - 100,000  461  31,347,409 5%

100,001 and Over  210  442,114,191 73%

TOTAL  15,743  606,584,561 100%

Twenty Largest WC Warrant holders as at 24 May 2011
National Nominees New Zealand Limited  9,751,899 

Custodial Services Limited  2,654,543 

H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited  2,164,178 

Hettinger Nominees Limited  2,104,832 

K & M Douglas A/C  664,632 

Bell Investment A/C  646,810 

JML Capital Limited  589,843 

Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited  573,407 

Investment Custodial Services Limited  568,543 

PP & KA Caughey Family A/C  557,000 

P Muir  500,000 

P Cook  500,000 

ASB Nominees Limited  470,440 

T Rutter & O Hill  412,219 

J Leslie  405,000 

K Ferguson  394,170 

M Wade  387,160 

Accident Compensation Corporation  343,358 

W Allen  317,355 

S van der Linden  300,000 

In the above table, the shareholding of New Zealand Central Securities 
Depositary Limited [NZCSD] has been re-allocated to the applicable 
members of NZCSD.

Spread of IFTWC Warrant holders as at 24 May 2011

Number of warrants
Number of 

holders
Total warrants 

held %

1 - 1,000  5,589  2,696,634 5%
1,001 - 5,000  4,925  9,492,210 18%
5,001 - 10,000  462  3,206,129 6%
10,001 - 50,000  256  5,200,559 10%
50,001 - 100,000  46  3,669,487 7%
100,001 and Over  51  28,560,439 54%
TOTAL  11,329  52,825,458 100%

In the above table, the shareholding of New Zealand Central Securities 
Depositary Limited [NZCSD] has been re-allocated to the applicable 
members of NZCSD.
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Twenty Largest Infrastructure Bondholders 
(Series 11b,12,13,15,16,17,20 and PIIBs) as at 24 May 2011
Custodial Services Limited  64,825,236 

FNZ Custodians Limited  43,593,932 

Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited  33,650,377 

Investment Custodial Services Limited  21,582,915 

Private Nominees Limited  11,525,200 

TEA Custodians Limited  11,099,000 

ASB Nominees Limited  7,931,551 

Tappenden Holdings Limited  6,286,000 

Sterling Holdings Limited  4,435,000 

JBWere (NZ) Nominees Limited  3,337,000 

NZ Guardian Trust Investment Nominees Limited  3,152,000 

Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited  3,000,000 

NZPT Custodians (Grosvenor) Limited  2,455,000 

Presbyterian Support Services (South Canterbury)  2,375,000 

Northland Regional Council  2,350,000 

Southern Cross Medical Care Society  2,000,000 

Te Ohu Kaimoana Custodian Limited  2,000,000 

University Of Otago Foundation Trust  2,000,000 

L & M Idoine  1,740,000 

Westpac Banking Corporation  1,575,000 

Spread of Infrastructure Bondholders  
(Series 11b,12,13,15,16,17,20 and PIIBs) as at 24 May 2011

Number of bonds
Number of 

holders
Total bonds 

held %

1 - 1,000  6  4,303 0%

1,001 - 5,000  2,035  10,074,888 1%

5,001 - 10,000  4,503  42,663,903 5%

10,001 - 50,000  10,949  304,472,573 38%

50,001 - 100,000  1,375  113,554,528 14%

100,001 and Over  596  329,836,821 41%

TOTAL  19,464  800,607,016 100%
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Comparative Financial Review
2011*

$Millions
2010*

$Millions
2009*

$Millions
2008*

$Millions
2007*

$Millions
2006

$Millions
2005

$Millions
2004

$Millions
2003

$Millions
2002

$Millions
2001

$Millions

Financial Performance  
(31 March year ended)
Operating revenue  2,144.0  1,835.9  1,733.8  1,346.7  655.1  301.0  172.0  148.7  142.5  120.9  68.2 
Earnings before interest, 
depreciation taxation and 
investment realisations  459.6**  363.3  356.3  315.9  157.1  77.6  63.8  63.6  59.4  35.1  25.0 
Operating earnings***  233.8  90.0  77.2  87.8  32.4  13.8  27.9  26.9  19.6 (2.0)  4.9 
Net gain/(loss) on 
financial derviatives (3.9) (67.5)  8.0  2.9  22.7  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Investment realisations (34.9)  83.8 (179.4) (15.4)  38.9  0.2  22.7  2.2  20.0  28.0  11.6 
Net surplus after taxation 
and minorities  64.5  29.0 (191.0) (1.7)  34.7  8.0  45.0  22.5  28.1  22.6  16.5 
Dividends paid and 
declared  37.6  36.2  31.3  28.6  27.4  23.0  26.9  16.7  5.8  13.3  17.6 

Financial position
Represented by:
Investments  323.7  9.7  162.4  212.3  262.5  475.6  430.2  377.1  247.9  218.4  161.9 
Non currents assets  4,166.7  3,963.6  3,891.5  3,662.9  3,311.5  1,114.1  484.4  478.1  492.9  522.9  413.3 
Current assets  559.5  535.1  653.8  524.2  313.6  115.2  87.9  59.9  51.0  57.1  37.9 
Total assets  5,049.9  4,508.4  4,707.7  4,399.4  3,887.6  1,704.9  1,002.5  915.1  791.8  798.4  613.2 

Current liabilities  432.5  647.6  445.6  618.6  388.7  332.7  63.1  22.2  20.2  19.5  25.6 
Non-current liabilities  1,919.7  1,382.1  1,879.0  1,561.6  1,242.5  97.2  117.4  147.1  176.3  188.0  213.5 
Infrastructure bonds  854.8  747.4  748.7  748.8  730.0  481.6  233.9  154.6  170.6  170.6  150.6 
Total Liabilities  3,207.0  2,777.1  3,073.3  2,929.0  2,361.2  911.5  414.5  324.0  367.1  378.1  389.7 
Net Assets  1,842.9  1,731.3  1,634.4  1,470.4  1,526.4  793.4  588.1  591.1  424.7  420.3  223.5 

Outside equity interest in 
subsidiaries  843.5  850.6  843.4  737.1  717.0  127.6  57.4  50.3  95.3  100.3  61.7 
Equity  999.4  880.7  791.0  733.3  809.4  665.8  530.7  540.8  329.4  320.0  161.7 
Total Equity  1,842.9  1,731.3  1,634.4  1,470.4  1,526.4  793.4  588.1  591.1  424.7  420.3  223.5 

Dividends per share 6.25 6.25 6.25 6.25 12.50 10.50 12.00 9.00 3.00 7.00 9.25
Dividends per share 
(adjusted for share split) 6.25 6.25 6.25 6.25 6.25 5.25 6.00 4.50 1.50 3.50 4.63
Shares on issue  (‘000) 602,806 567,655 520,211 443,408  219,671  219,439  219,299  226,685  183,414  185,872  185,808 
Shares on issue (adjusted 
for share split)  (‘000) - - - 443,408  439,342  438,838  438,598  453,370  366,828  371,744  371,616 
Partly paid installment 
shares (‘000) - - - 88,008 - - - - - - -

* Prepared in accordance with New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘NZIFRS’).

** Prior to fair value gains on acquisition recognised by associates of $60.7 million.

*** Operating earnings is earnings after depreciation, amortisation and interest.
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Directory
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D A R Newman (Chairman)
M Bogoievski 
H R L Morrison 
H J D Rolleston
D P Saville
M Tume
A Muh (alternate to D P Saville)
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K Baker

Registered Office - New Zealand

97 The Terrace
PO Box 320 
Wellington
Telephone: 04 473 3663
Internet address: www.infratil.com

Registered Office - Australia

C/- HRL Morrison & Co Private Markets
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Telephone: +61 2 8098 7500

Manager

Morrison & Co Infrastructure Management 
Limited
97 The Terrace
PO Box 1395
Wellington
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Internet address: www.hrlmorrison.com

Share Registrar

Link Market Services – New Zealand
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E-mail: registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au

Auditor

KPMG
Maritime Tower
10 Customhouse Quay 
PO Box 996
Wellington

Bankers

ANZ National Bank
215-229 Lambton Quay
Wellington

Bank of New Zealand 
80 Queen Street
Auckland

Commonwealth Bank of Australia
135 Albert Street
Auckland

Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporation
HSBC Tower
195 Lambton Quay
Wellington

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
220 George Street
Sydney

Kiwibank
155 The Terrace
Wellington

Westpac Banking Corporation
188 Quay Street
Auckland

	

CALENDAR
Final dividend paid: 17 June 2011

Annual meeting: 15 August 2011

Infratil Update publication: September 2011

Half year end: 30 September 2011

Interim report release: 15 November 2011

Infratil Update publication: March 2012

Financial year end: 31 March 2012

UPDATES/INFORMATION
Infratil produces an Annual Report and 
Interim Report each year. It also produces 
two Updates on matters of relevance to the 
Company. Last year these were:

March 2011: A review of TrustPower’s 
investment plans, including in the area of 
irrigation and a discussion on the rise in 
New Zealand electricity prices in the last 
decade and where they are likely to go over 
the next decade.

September 2010: An overview of how and 
why Infratil Energy Australia was formed.

In addition, Infratil produces a monthly 
report on the operations of its subsidiaries. 
This is only availalbe on www.Infratil.com

All Infratil’s reports and releases are on the 
website, which also contains profiles of 
Infratil’s businesses and links.

Infratil on Facebook.  

CORPORATE AWARDS
Wellington Chamber of Commerce 
Achievment Award for contribution to the 
development of Wellington

Institute of Financial Professionals 
New Zealand (INFINZ) Finalist: Best 
Corporate Communication 2003, 2004, 2005, 
2006, 2008, 2010, 2011.

Best Debt Deal 2007. Best Corporate 
Treasury 2007, 2008, 2011.

New Zealand Shareholders’ Association 
Best and Fairest Award.

Finance Asia Best New Zealand Deal 2007.

Deloitte / Management Magazine Company 
of the Year 2007.



This year’s Infratil Annual Report covers 
have been designed by New Zealand’s 
iconic artist, Dick Frizzell and form part of 
a series of four covers.

Collector’s Edition






